
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 07895 213740

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 27 October 2020

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 4 NOVEMBER 2020 AT 6.00 PM

THIS IS A VIRTUAL MEETING

You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Sarah Gray

Kate Gregory
Lorraine Hillier
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Victoria Haval
Kellie Hinton

Alexandrine Kantor
Mocky Khan
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy

Caroline Newton
Alan Thompson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


2

1 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

4 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

5 Proposals for site visits  

6 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page



3

7 Goulds Grove 
Old London 
Road Ewelme, 
OX10 6PX  

Demolition of existing buildings and 
the erection of five residential 
dwellings and the conversion of an 
existing building to provide four 
B1(a) office units, together with 
parking and landscaping. (As 
clarified by swept path analysis 
received 4 April 2019 and 
contaminated land preliminary 
assessment received on 18 April 
2019. As clarified by drawing no 
3358. 114, Heritage response and 
Highway Planning Limited letter 
accompanying Agent's letter dated 
23 May 2019. As amended by 
drawing nos 3358- 101 rev B, 108 
rev A, 109 rev A and 110 rev A 
accompanying Agent's email dated 5 
July 2019 which re-orientate the 
dwellings on plots 3, 4 and 5 and 
retain more of the fabric of existing 
buildings in the car port for plot 5. As 
further amended by drawing 
numbers 3358. 104 rev C and 105 
rev B to change plots 3 and 4 to two 
bed units and plot 5 to a three bed 
unit).

P19/S0821/FUL 
and 
P19/S0822/LB

8 Land to the 
east of Manor 
Road, to the 
south of Little 
Croft and to 
west of 
Elmcroft Manor 
Road Goring  

Erection of 20 dwellings and 
associated works with all matters 
reserved except for access (as per 
amended plans and information 
received 29 November 2019).

P19/S2923/O

9 Land opposite 
Whitecross 
House, 
Reading Road, 
Wallingford, 
OX10 9ED  

Erection of a single dwelling and 
associated works including new 
access onto Wallingford Road (as 
amended by plan refs 3043-301 A, 
3043-302 A, 3043-304 A, 3043-312 
A, 3043-307 A, 3043-305 A and 
3043-305 A received on 6 August 
2020).

P20/S0912/FUL

10 The Byre, 
Mackney Lane, 
Brightwell-
Cum-Sotwell, 
OX10 0SQ  

Variation of condition 2 (approved 
drawings - change of internal layout 
with additional dormer window and 
velux windows in the roof) on 
application P20/S0149/FUL.  
Demolition of two agricultural barns, 
erection of single dwelling house.

P20/S2746/FUL



4

11 Downlands 
Kennels, 
Westfield 
Road, Cholsey, 
OX10 9JW  

New Kennel Block (as amplified by 
Noise Impact Assessment received 
on 17 February 2020).

P19/S4156/FUL



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0821/FUL and P19/S0822/LB
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION and LISTED BUILDING 

CONSENT
REGISTERED 20.3.2019
PARISH BENSON
WARD MEMBER(S) Sue Cooper

Andrea Powell
APPLICANT St John Homes (Thames Valley)
SITE Goulds Grove Old London Road Ewelme, OX10 

6PX
PROPOSAL Demolition of existing buildings and the erection of 

five residential dwellings and the conversion of an 
existing building to provide four B1(a) office units, 
together with parking and landscaping. (As clarified 
by swept path analysis received 4 April 2019 and 
contaminated land preliminary assessment received 
on 18 April 2019. As clarified by drawing no 3358. 
114, Heritage response and Highway Planning 
Limited letter accompanying Agent's letter dated 23 
May 2019. As amended by drawing nos 3358- 101 
rev B, 108 rev A, 109 rev A and 110 rev A 
accompanying Agent's email dated 5 July 2019 
which re-orientate the dwellings on plots 3, 4 and 5 
and retain more of the fabric of existing buildings in 
the car port for plot 5. As further amended by 
drawing numbers 3358. 104 rev C and 105 rev B to 
change plots 3 and 4 to two bed units and plot 5 to a 
three bed unit).

OFFICER Sharon Crawford

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 At the meeting on 21 October 2020, Members resolved to defer consideration of the 

applications to allow for a site visit. A member site visit has been arranged for 2 
November 2020.

1.2 The applications have been referred to Planning Committee at the discretion of the 
Planning Manager because the recommendations conflict with the views of the Parish 
Council. I recommend that planning permission and listed building consent are 
granted for the development/works proposed. This report sets out the reasoning for 
my recommendations taking into account all the material planning considerations.

1.3 The site is located in the countryside and is part of a former farmyard complex. The 
farmhouse and farmworker cottages are now in separate ownerships from the former 
yard area and barns. The site lies 1.5 km to the south of Ewelme and over 3km to the 
south west of Benson. The site lies within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty

1.4 Some of the barns are classed as curtilage listed buildings to a property known as 
Troy (formerly known as Goulds Grove Farmhouse). Troy lies immediately to the 
south of the site and is a grade II listed building (listed in Nov 1985).

1.5 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1. The 
general arrangement on site is also shown below.

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0821/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission to demolish two of the barns on the site 

and erect five dwellings – 2 x five bedroom dwellings, 1 x three bed dwelling and 2 x 
two bed dwellings. The application also seeks permission for the conversion of one the 
curtilage listed barns to provide four B1(a) office units, together with parking and 
landscaping. The office conversion involves the removal of an existing rear wing to the 
barn and a reduction in floor area.

There is a related application for listed building consent for the demolition of buildings 
and works to convert the curtilage listed barn to office accommodation.

2.2 The five bed dwellings on plots 1 and 2 would be of brick and flint construction under a 
half hipped, tiled roof rising to a ridge height of approximately 8.5m. The rear off-shoot 
would also be two-storey in scale, but incorporating a timber external finish, with lower 
pitched roof.  A detached, single storey timber finished double garage building, 
sufficient in size to accommodate bin and cycle storage is provided for each plot.

2.3 Plots 3-5, which would comprise a detached dwelling and a semi-detached pair. The 
pair of semi-detached dwellings (Plots 3 and 4) would be cottage-style, with dropped
eaves to the front and rear (with dormer windows to the front and gable projections to 
the rear) and finished with brick and flint under a pitched tiled roof to a height of 7.5m.
Plot 5 would be positioned to the east of Plot 4 and would also be of a cottage-style, 
with gable dormers to the front (south) elevation and a two-storey double gable 
projection to the rear.

2.4 For the office building it is proposed to demolish the southern rear wing and alter and 
convert the remainder of the building to provide four office suites, each comprising 
ground level accommodation with a mezzanine level. The following alterations are 
proposed;

 Provision of louvred/concealed window openings at ground floor level in the 
west elevation;

 Provision of velux rooflights in the east and west facing roof slopes;
 Provision of internalised, glazed entrance lobbies in the west elevation, through

the main door openings;

Page 6



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

 Removal of elements along the single storey section to the rear (east) with
additional glazed openings;

 Provision of partial mezzanine level accommodation;
 Alteration to northern rear wing to provide bin and cycle storage; and
 Some internal alterations.

2.5 Amended plans have been submitted to re-orientate the houses on Plots 3, 4 and 5 so 
that the front elevations face onto Old London Road (vehicular access will be provided 
from the rear of the units). This has allowed for the retention of more of one of the 
existing buildings on the site to provide a car port structure for plot 5.

2.6 Additional plans and information have been submitted to show the swept path analysis 
for refuse vehicles and to address contamination and heritage concerns.

2.7 Further amended plans have changed the mix in the bedroom numbers of the units. Plots 
3 and 4 have been changed to two-bedroom units, with Plot 5 becoming a three-bedroom 
unit. This has been achieved without any alterations to the external design/elevations of 
the dwellings, nor any changes to the siting of the buildings.

2.8 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

Benson Parish 
Council

Comments on planning application. 
STRONGLY OBJECT to application number P19/S0821/FUL for the 
following reasons:
1.            The application site is within an Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty and is in an unsustainable location for residential dwellings
2.            It would result in the loss of a historically significant 
agricultural settlement and the proposed change of use to 
residential/office space would jeopardise the longer-term viability of 
the surrounding agricultural land
3.            Benson Parish is already growing by 60% over the lifetime of 
the Emerging Local Plan and does not need any further new homes

Comments on listed building application. Objection
Members resolved with 6 in favour and 1 abstention to object to this
application which does not conform to the Benson Neighbourhood 
Plan

Conservation 
Officer

No objection. Comments on amended/additional details.
The works comply with Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Building 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and I therefore recommend that 
listed building consent is granted for the works to convert the barn and 
other alterations to lesser curtilage listed buildings. I request that a 
condition is applied requiring a detailed schedule of works of repair 
and alteration prior to commencement.

In determining the planning application, you should bear in mind the 
statutory duty of section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability 

Page 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which they possess. Based on the 
above assessment I consider that the special interest of the listed 
building Troy would be preserved and consider that this part of the Act 
is fulfilled.

Contaminated 
Land Officer

No objection subject to conditions and an informative to address the 
remaining contamination issues.

Waste 
Management 
Officer 

No objection. The swept path analysis shows access and egress to 
the site for the purpose of refuse collection. An indemnity agreement 
will be required where we are required to drive onto private land to 
make collections.

Countryside 
Officer 

The site has been subject to general ecological surveys and specialist 
bat surveys. The surveys did not reveal the presence of any significant 
ecological constraints. Overall, the proposals will involve a small 
increase in the area of soft landscaping over and above the current 
situation and would result in a net gain for biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy CSB1 of the Core Strategy.

OCC 
(Highways)

Objection. Following a site visit, the visibility splays demonstrated to 
the left-hand side on egress, does not meet standards. Measurement 
taken on site using a 2.4m setback, resulted in a visibility splay of
89.6 m, this is below the required standards for the speed of the 
carriageway.
Furthermore, this splay appears to cross 3rd party land in which the 
applicant does not have control over.
If visibility splays are not provided in accordance with standards this 
can only increase the risk to Highway Safety and to users of the 
Highway within the vicinity.
Given the reasons set out above the Highway Authority recommends 
refusal to the proposal on the basis of Highway Safety.

Third party 
reps

6 letters of objection from the planning agent acting for the neighbour.

Summary only. 
The Application Site is in un-sustainable location. It provides minimal 
public benefit, and remains largely noncompliant in planning policy 
terms.
The Applicant has still not provided any relevant evidence to support a 
specific need, or shortfall of ‘executive type’ houses in this remote 
location or incorporated any public benefits through the proposed 
development (e.g. affordable housing, self-build plots, improvements 
to the historic environment, or tangible biodiversity improvements), 
and as such, no ‘very special circumstances’ could possibly outweigh 
the negative impacts placed upon the Statutory protected natural, and 
built, environmental assets.
When deciding over this application, it’s expected that the NPPF 2019 
Chapter 2, will be applied, where the NPPF explicitly states; clear 
reasoning over ANY adverse impacts on protected areas or assets of 
particular importance are expected to be demonstrably
outweighed by the benefits. (NPPF Para 11 d)

Page 8



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

As established, the Site falls within both a protected area (Chilton’s 
AONB), and curtilage of a protected Grade 2 Listed Building (Troy). 
Paragraph 172 of the NPPF specifically states that great weight 
should be given to conserving and enhancing any AONB and cultural 
heritage within. 

Given that the ‘highest status of protection’ should be applied in this 
case, the applicant cannot claim to consider this application 
‘acceptable’, due to the very nature, that it does not comply with 
Chapters 15 and 16 of the NPPF, particularly where the ‘need’
(para 172 a)), ‘measurable net gains for biodiversity’ (para 174), and 
‘justification’ (Para 194) are concerned.
Such that, this application should be refused on the grounds that;
 it cannot not demonstrate a set of very special circumstances;
 the applicant has not provided adequate justification for the harm to 
protected assets; and
 no need, or clear demonstration has been established i.e. no public 
benefits, or housing shortages have been proven that could possibly 
justify this Scheme’s approval.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S2497/PEM – Pre application response

Proposal of 5 residential houses and a B1 office building.

P18/S1061/PDO – Prior approval 25 June 2018
Conversion of B1(c) premises to create a single self-contained residential unit.

P07/W1038/LB - Approved (11/10/2007)
Internal alterations to units 1, 2, 9 and 10 and inclusion of additional roof lights.  

P07/W0084/LB - Approved (27/03/2007)
Partial demolition and rebuild, refurbishment and renovation of lean to building.

P07/W0083 - Approved (27/03/2007)
Part demolition and renovation of barn and lean to building for B8 use.

P02/W0679 - Approved (24/11/2004)
Demolition of modern buildings, creation of new access, carparking, refurbishment of 
existing barn and outbuildings, change of use to B1.

P02/W0678/LB - Approved (17/11/2004)
Demolition of modern buildings and restoration and refurbishment of barn.

P00/W0308/RET - Approved (02/08/2000)
Regularisation of change of use to storage (B8) and general business use (B1).  

5.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
5.1 Not applicable – This is a sensitive area but is not EIA Schedule 1 or 2 development 

of a scale that requires EIA. 

6.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
6.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity

Page 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P07/W1038/LB
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P07/W0084/LB
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P07/W0083
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P02/W0679
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P02/W0678/LB
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P00/W0308/RET


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

CSEM1  -  Supporting a successful economy
CSEM2  -  The amount and distribution of employment
CSEM4  -  Supporting economic development
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM1  -  Transport
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

6.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse effect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON4  -  Change of use of listed buildings
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D5  -  Compatible mix of uses
D7  -  Access for all
E6  -  Loss of employment uses
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G3  -  Development well served by facilities and transport
G4  -  Protection of Countryside
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

6.3 Benson Neighbourhood Plan (BNP) policies; 
The Benson referendum took place on 28 June 2018 and the neighbourhood plan was 
made (approved by council) on 23 August 2018. The BNP is now part of the 
Development Plan and should be considered when determining planning applications.

Relevant Benson Neighbourhood Plan policies
NP1 - Housing Allocation 
NP6 - Conservation and Heritage
NP7 – Design
NP8 Traffic Flow
NP9 - Access to public transport
NP10 - Pedestrians and Cyclists
NP11 - Sustainable travel
NP12 - Community facilities
NP20 - outdoor recreation
NP22 - Creating new local green space
NP23 - Biodiversity
NP24 - Wildlife corridors
NP25 - Green Infrastructure and Management plans
NP27 - Distinctiveness of settlements

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

6.4 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2018) allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in 
emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only 
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and 
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The Council is currently progressing the emerging local plan through the examination 
stage. Following recent examination hearings, the Planning Inspector has now asked 
South Oxfordshire District Council to prepare a ‘Schedule of Proposed Main 
Modifications’ to the plan. The schedule reflects the modifications, or changes, that the 
Inspector considers necessary to make the plan sound before it can move to the 
adoption stage. These are the only significant changes that can be made to the plan 
now. Consultation runs until 2 November 2020. As such, the plan currently carries 
limited weight. Relevant policies include;

STRAT1 – The overall strategy
DES1 – Delivering high quality development
DES2 – Enhancing local character
DES5E – Outdoor amenity space
DES6E  -  Residential amenity
EMP2E – Range size and mix of employment
EMP3 – Retention of employment land
EMP11E -Development in the countryside and rural areas
ENV1 – Landscape and countryside
ENV3 - Biodiversity – non Designated Sites, Habitats and Species
ENV6 – Historic Environment
ENV7 – Listed building
ENV11 – Pollution
EP3E – Waste collection and recycling
EP4 – Flood Risk
H11E – Housing mix
H19E – Re-use of rural buildings

6.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
Chilterns AONB Management Plan 2019-2024
Chilterns Building Design Guide 2010. 
Landscape Character Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 (November 2017).

6.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG)

6.7 Other Relevant Legislation
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: Section 66 and 72

Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

Page 11



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

7.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
7.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

Where development conflicts with the Development Plan planning permission should 
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF makes it clear that, where there are no relevant polices or 
the policies are out of date on a particular matter, planning permission should be 
granted unless;

i. the policies in the NPPF that protect assets of particular importance (such 
as AONBs, listed buildings and biodiversity) provide a clear reason for 
refusing the proposed development; or. 

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would  so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
this Framework taken as a whole

In the case of this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the 
Benson Neighbourhood Plan, the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) 
which was adopted in December 2012 and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan 2011 (SOLP).

The main issues in the consideration of the planning application are;

 To establish what is previously developed land and any fall back positions
 Whether the principle of development is acceptable – having regard to the 

spatial strategy, new housing, and employment policies of the development 
plan and the lawful fall-back use of the site;

 The impact of the development on landscape features of the site and wider 
AONB impacts; 

 Impact on neighbouring residential amenities;
 Potential highways impacts;
 Provision for parking;
 Internal access on site;
 Biodiversity; 
 Provision of gardens;
 Mix of units;
 Affordable housing;
 Impact on listed buildings and settings;
 CIL; and
 Other issues

The main issues for the consideration of the listed building consent application are; 

 whether the development as a whole respects the setting of the adjacent listed 
building and;

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

 whether the works to the curtilage listed building respect the fabric, character or 
appearance of the building.

7.2 To establish what is previously developed land and any fall-back positions.
In my assessment, the proposal can reasonably be split into two parts. Construction of 
new dwellings and the business use. Prior to considering whether the development 
plan supports the principle of these developments (either individually or considered as 
a whole) it is first pertinent to establish what the current status/use of the site may be. 

7.3 Much of the site is no longer in agricultural use and would be considered as previously 
developed land because some of the barns are now in B1 and B8 uses following the 
grant of planning permission and listed building consents (P02/W0679 and 
P00/W0308/RET). The extent of previously developed land is shown below.

Previously developed land shaded in blue

7.4 Paragraph 83 of the NPPF encourages the growth and expansion of all types of 
business in rural areas both through the conversion of existing buildings and well -
designed new buildings. Paragraph 84 of the NPPF recognises that sites to meet local 
business and community needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or 
beyond existing settlements, and in locations that are not well served by public 
transport. It also encourages the use of previously developed land where suitable 
opportunities exist. 

In addition, paragraph 121 requires positive outcomes for applications for
alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not allocated for a specific 
purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified development needs.

7.5 There is also a permitted development fall-back position exists on one of the former 
barns on the site. There is a prior approval for the conversion of a B1c building to one 
residential unit (P18/S1061/PDO).

Page 13



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

Prior approval site shaded in blue

7.6 Apart from the barn proposed for office conversion, the buildings on the site are 
relatively modern structures that do not positively contribute to the character of the site 
or wider AONB. Approximately two thirds of the site is classified as previously 
developed land and there is a fallback position for a residential conversion on the 
other third of the site. In my view, the principle of redevelopment of the site for 
commercial and residential uses is encouraged in the NPPF. However, very careful 
consideration will need to be given to the impact of the development on the landscape, 
historic setting of the listed building and highway safety. These issues this will be 
explored in more detail later in this report.

7.7 Principle of development – new dwellings.
Paragraph 79 of the NPPF aims to avoid the development of isolated homes in the 
countryside unless, amongst other things, the development would re-use redundant or 
disused buildings and enhance its immediate setting.

In addition Paragraph 121 encourages applications for alternative uses of currently 
developed commercial land for homes in areas of high housing demand where it 
would not undermine key economic sectors such as town centres and where the uses 
are compatible with other polices in the NPPF.

7.8 The site lies within Benson parish and the Benson Neighbourhood Plan area although 
it should be noted that the site is some 5km by road from the centre of Benson village. 
Benson is one of the larger villages in the district and benefits from a made 
neighbourhood plan. The BNP allocates a substantial amount of new housing on sites 
on the edge of the village. The BNP allows for new housing on infill sites within the 
village but only supports new housing outside the village where the development is 
consistent with other development plan policies. 

7.9 SOCS policy CSS1 sets out the spatial strategy for the plan period that broadly seeks 
to locate the majority of new development within Didcot, the other towns and larger 
villages across the district. Outside of defined settlements “any change will need to 
relate to very specific needs such as those of the agricultural industry or enhancement 
of the environment”
 
The site is not within a location where new housing would normally be allowed and as 
such, unless it can be demonstrated the development relates to very specific needs it 
could be considered to be in conflict with the overall spatial strategy unless there are 

Page 14



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

other material circumstances. My report will focus on the material considerations that 
have led to my recommendation that planning permission should be granted.

7.10 Policy CSR1 of the SOCS set out the criteria to be met if new housing development is 
to be supported in principle. The redevelopment of previously developed land is 
supported in any category of settlement but will need to be considered on a case by 
case basis in line with other policies in the development plan. Outside of defined 
settlements, new open-market housing is not supported unless it can be secured 
through conversion of existing buildings (policy E8 of the SOLP directly relates to rural 
conversions). The NPPF takes a less strict approach stating that decisions should be 
responsive to local circumstances and support housing developments that reflect local 
needs. Paragraph 78 further states that:

To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should 
be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities. Planning policies should identify opportunities for 
villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will support local 
services. Where there are groups of smaller settlements, 
development in one village may support services in a village nearby. 

The nearest villages to the site are Ewelme (1.5km to the north), Crowmarsh Gifford 
(2.7km to west) and Benson (3km to the north west) (all distances as the crow flies).

7.11 A compelling local need argument (as required by the NPPF) is unlikely to be able to 
be demonstrated for new housing unless there is a fall-back position that would enable 
dwellings to be constructed at the site through conversion of an existing building or the 
redevelopment of previously developed land. In this case there is a prior approval for 
the conversion of one building to one dwelling and the volume and bulk of buildings to 
be removed on the previously developed land is less than the new buildings proposed.  
Policy CSR1 does not rule this proposal for housing out as it is for the redevelopment 
of previously developed land. However, referring back to the spatial strategy CSS1, 
some enhancement of the environment would be sought to justify the construction of 
new buildings. 

7.12 Principle of development – employment uses.
The two larger barns on the site are already in use for B8 (storage) purposes with the 
smaller barn having a permitted B1c use (light industrial).
Policy E6 of SOLP aims to retain employment uses where possible. In this case the 
large barn is to be retained and converted for office purposes – it is currently used for 
storage. In balancing the underlying objectives of Policy E6, it is necessary to consider 
the employment-generating potential both from the existing authorised uses on the site 
and the proposed development.

7.13 The South Oxfordshire Employment Land Review Addendum – Final Report (2017) 
advises, in paragraph 2.15 that small scale B8 (Warehouse) uses generate, on 
average, 1 job per 65sqm, a B1(c) light industrial use generates 1 job per 43sqn, and 
a B1(a) (Office) use 1 job per 12.5sqm. 

That being the case, the existing 1467sqm of B8 floorspace would generate 22.5 jobs, 
with the 180 sqm of B1(c) accommodation generating 4.18 jobs – a total of 27 jobs 
(rounded-up). 

The proposed 447sqm of B1(a) (office) accommodation would, based on the above, 
generate 36 jobs. That being the case, the evidence indicates that the proposals 
would not result in a loss of the overall level of employment from the site, rather this 

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

would be maintained and potentially enhanced. As such, the scheme would, comply 
with the underlying objectives of Policy E6 in my view.

7.14 The impact of the development on landscape features of the site and wider 
AONB impacts.
The landscape impacts of a development can be split between those impacting upon 
features within the site and more wider impacts relating to the character of the 
surrounding landscape. Paragraph 172 of the NPPF states that great weight should be 
given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty AONBs which have 
the highest status of protection in relation to these issues. This reinforces the statutory 
duty placed on the council under S85 of the Countryside Rights of Way Act 2000.  
SOCS policy CSEN1 also places a high priority on the conservation and enhancement 
of the Chilterns and North Wessex Downs AONBs and their respective settings. 

An over-riding principle of the NPPF is that any development within the Chilterns or 
North Wessex Downs should conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the AONB 
and in so doing not result in harm to the special qualities of the AONB (para 11, 171, 
172). Proposals which support the economies and social wellbeing of the AONBs and 
their communities are encouraged, provided they do not conflict with the aims of 
conservation and enhancement.

7.15 Policy CSEN1 of SOCS requires protection of the district’s distinct landscape 
character and key features from inappropriate development and where possible the 
landscape should be enhanced. Saved Policy G2 of SOLP aims to protect the 
district's countryside, settlements and environmental resources from adverse 
developments. 

Policy ENV1 of ESOLP echoes these policies but has limited weight.

In addition, The South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment identifies the landscape 
characteristics of the district and gives guidelines for landscape enhancement, 
planning and development.

7.16 Within the Landscape Character Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 (November 
2017) (LCA). The wider area is classified as being within the Central Vale Fringe 
landscape character area and on the boundary of the Open Rolling Downs and Semi-
enclosed Rolling Downs sub-areas.

The redevelopment of an existing former farmyard and removal of large barns to be 
replaced with smaller scale buildings of an appropriate design, scale and materials 
would not be at odds with the objectives of the LCA.

Whilst great weight is given to the protection and enhancement of the landscape and 
scenic beauty of the AONB there is a balance against securing some level of 
development to contribute to the economic and social conditions of the area.

7.17 The buildings to be removed have a footprint/floor area of approximately
1138sqm, with the proposed dwellings (and ancillary buildings) have a footprint of 
some 718sqm and an overall floor area of 1058sqm. It is clear that there would be a 
reduction in both the footprint and floor area of built development on the site. 

In terms of mass, the existing buildings (to be removed) have a volume of 4243cu.m, 
with the proposed buildings having a combined volume of 4225cum – a marginal 
reduction – with a more substantive reduction in the area of hardstanding, from 

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

2242sqm to 1562sqm. Thus, in pure arithmetic terms, the proposals would reduce the 
extent and volume of development on the site compared to the existing situation.

7.18 The layout of the proposed development - whilst marginally increasing the overall 
extent/spread of development on the site – breaks-up the mass and coverage of the 
existing deep spanning buildings and provides buildings of a more modulated form 
and design characteristic reminiscent of traditional Chilterns buildings. The effect of 
such, purely in terms of siting, is a greater sense of openness through the site that 
compensates for the marginal increase in the extent of development.

7.19 In visual impact terms, the existing site makes very little contribution to the landscape 
character of the area. Large, agricultural buildings are not uncommon features across 
the AONB but can be visual detractors. The buildings to be removed have no 
particular merit but are well maintained. The barn to be retained has some merit but 
given its location to the rear of the site, it is not seen as a prominent feature in wider 
landscape views. The demolition of the existing buildings would not cause harm to the 
landscape character of the AONB in my view. 

7.20 The proposed dwellings have all been carefully designed to follow the principles set 
out in the Chilterns Building Design Guide, utilising a sensitive range and palette of 
external materials, narrow spanning sections, and traditional roof forms. The result is a 
series of dwellings that, along the road frontage (Plots 3-5) are of a cottage style that 
face onto the road and provide an active frontage, sitting comfortably in relation to the
site and wider surroundings, particularly when viewed with 1 and 2 Goulds Grove 
Cottages to the west. Plots 1 and 2 are less visible less in key viewpoints, but 
nevertheless of an overall height that reflects the main barn, and with detailing and 
appearance typical of the area.

Given these factors, I consider that the scheme that would conserve the scenic 
landscape qualities of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty whilst securing a 
significant enhancement in the quality of built development across the site and 
accords with the Development Plan policies.

7.21 Impact on neighbouring residential amenities.
Policy D4 requires new dwellings to be laid out to secure a reasonable level of privacy 
for occupants and the amenities and seeks to ensure that the privacy of neighbouring 
properties should not be harmed. Policy DES6E- of ESOLP (limited weight) has similar 
aims by seeking to ensure that new developments do not result in significant adverse 
impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses in terms of loss of privacy, daylight or 
sunlight, dominance or visual intrusion, noise or vibration, smell, dust, pollution or 
external lighting.

The nearest residential neighbours are 1 Goulds Grove Cottages to the east and Troy 
(house and flat) to the south west. 

7.22 1 Goulds Grove Cottage.
A large commercial building on two floors currently lies to the east of 1 Goulds Grove 
cottages and a smaller, single storey building to the rear. The frontage building is to be 
replaced with a terrace of three dwellings in a similar building line to no. 1 forward of 
the building to be removed. The distance between no. 1 and the dwelling on plot 3 
would be some 29.5 m and they would be separated by the existing access to Troy, 
which is to be retained. 
To the rear the smaller barn would be replaced by the two storey dwelling on plot 2 at 
a distance of some 33m from the rear of no. 1 to the side of the plot 2 dwelling. 

Page 17



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

The distances from no 1 to the dwellings on plots 2 and 3 are generous, exceeding the 
minimum standards required by the Design Guide and I consider that the new 
dwellings will not block light, be overbearing or overlook no 1. I am satisfied that the 
impact on neighbour amenity for no. 1 is acceptable.

Extract from drawing no 3358.101B. Hatching shows buildings to be removed.

7.23 Troy.
The nearest building on the site to Troy is the large barn which is to be retained and 
converted into 4 offices. The footprint of the building is to be reduced with the existing 
rear wing near the boundary with Troy being removed. There are no new windows 
proposed in the side elevation looking to Troy. As the bulk of this building is being 
reduced near to the boundary with Troy, the overall impact on neighbour amenity will 
also be reduced. In terms of noise a B1 office use is a use that is considered 
compatible with residential uses.

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

                  Extract from GIS

Existing elevation to Troy Proposed elevation to Troy

I am satisfied that the impact on neighbour amenity for Troy is acceptable.

7.24 Potential highways impacts.
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out 
in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:

Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe. 

The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely 
to result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact. 

Policy T1 of SOLP seeks to ensure that all types of development will, where
appropriate, provide for safe and convenient access to the highway network.

Emerging Policy TRANS5 of ESOLP echoes these provisions.

The proposal new dwellings and office accommodation would use the existing access 
onto Old London Road which serves the existing commercial uses and two 
residential properties – Troy and 1 Goulds Grove Cottages. At this point Old London 
Road is subject to the national speed limit of 60 mph.

7.25 The applicant has submitted a transport statement (TS) to attempt to demonstrate that 
the combined impacts of the 5 houses and the office use would not be harmful in 
comparison to the fall-back position. The vehicle movements of the lawful fall-back 
use(s) of the sites are assessed against the expected traffic movements associated 
with the residential and office developments and it has been concluded the fall-back 
use generates similar levels of traffic but has a greater potential to be harmful. The 
submitted Crashmap accident record also demonstrates that there have been no 
accidents in the vicinity in the last 5 years.

7.26 The TS explains that the existing access to Old London Road is a wide bellmouth sited
between the front boundary hedges. It has a width of approximately 10m (between 
hedges) and leads to parking and service yard areas for the commercial uses. Access 
to 1 Goulds Grove Cottages is immediately to the west of the main access.

In terms of the vision splay the TS and plans indicate that If the hedges are maintained 
without encroaching over the highway then visibility exceeds 215m to the east and 
114m to the nearside kerb edge to the west.

The visibility splay requirements for a 60mph road are usually 2.4m x 215m in both 
directions (DMRB standard) or 123.8m if Manual for Streets is applied.

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

The existing storage buildings (B8 use) that are included within the development site 
have a combined floor area of 1647m2. The development will remove 1200m2 with the 
remaining 447m2 being converted into 4 office units (B1 use). The uses have been 
assessed against the TRICS database, a nationwide dataset that provides a typical 
traffic generation rate for various planning uses in comparative locations across the 
UK.

Extract from Transport Statement

The analysis shows that for the weekday AM period, traffic generation for the 
proposed dwellings and offices involves 1 additional car movement than existing traffic 
levels. The weekday PM figures involves a reduction of 2 movements. 

As such, the proposed development overall will not result in a material change in traffic 
activity compared to the existing commercial use. The removal of the B8 storage use 
will significantly reduce the level of HGV traffic attending the site and travelling along 
Old London Road. The cumulative impact of the development will not be severe and 
there will not be an unacceptable impact on highway safety.

7.27 The highway engineer has objected to the proposal on the grounds that the visibility 
splay demonstrated to the left-hand side on egress, does not meet the required 
standard. Measurement taken on site using a 2.4m setback, resulted in a visibility 
splay of 89.6 m, this is below the required standards for the speed of the carriageway 
which is 215m. In addition, the left-hand vision splay crosses 3rd party land over which 
the applicant does not have control. The highway officer considers that the scheme will 
increase the risk to highway safety and to users of the highway within the vicinity.

7.28 Whilst it is unusual to for an officer’s recommendation to go against the advice of the 
highway engineer. The results of the submitted TS show that the proposed 
development will not result in an increase in traffic movements at the access. This has 
two key implications. Firstly, that the continued use of the access will not result in an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety regardless of the level of visibility that can be 
achieved and, secondly, that the development will not generate additional car-reliant 
travel when compared to the existing employment uses. This is a material 
consideration in the determination of this application.

The TS acknowledges that the visibility splay to the north does not comply with the 
2.4m x 215m distance required for a 60mph speed limit. It is, however, important to 
note that opportunities to maximise the use of sustainable transport solutions will vary 
from urban to rural areas. In a rural location there will be very limited opportunity to 
access public transport but it is legitimate to take other considerations into account 
such as the reuse of previously developed land and the removal of HGV traffic as is 

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

the case here. In addition, similar levels in traffic activity between the existing and 
proposed uses is important in assessing the sustainability of the development. 

7.29 The development does not strictly accord with Policy T1 of SOLP because of the lack 
of an adequate visibility splay to the north. Planning applications must be determined 
in accordance with the development unless material planning considerations indicate 
otherwise. I am of the view that in this instance there are material planning 
considerations that indicate a departure from the development plan is justified.  The 
NPPF sets a very high bar for refusing planning permission due to highway safety 
reasons. “ Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds 
where the residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe”
In this case, there is no material change in traffic levels associated with the proposal 
over and above the existing uses, there will be a reduction in the number of HGV 
movements which will be an improvement and the crashmap data shows that there 
have been no road traffic accidents in the vicinity during the last 5 years. I believe that 
these factors outweigh the conflict with policy T1.

7.30 Provision for Parking. 
Policy T2 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development provides for sufficient parking 
and turning areas. Policy D2 requires development to incorporate adequate, safe and 
secure parking for vehicles and cycles. Appendix 5 of SOLP sets out the council’s 
maximum parking standards for various uses.

For 1 bedroom units the maximum requirement is 1 space. For 2/3 bedroom units 2
spaces and for 4+ bedrooms 2+ spaces on merit.

The standard for B1 office accommodation is 1 space per 30m2 of gross floor area.

The cycle parking standard for B1 accommodation is 1 space per 150m2 which gives 
a minimum requirement of 3 spaces.

Emerging Policy TRANS5 of ESOLP echoes these provisions.

7.31 The dwellings on plots 1, 2 & 5 are provided with double or 3-car garages/car ports 
and driveway parking. Plots 3 & 4 have 2 allocated parking spaces each and 1 
shared visitor space. Each property has ample space for the provision of cycle 
parking

The office units will have a floor area of 447m2, which requires 15 parking spaces. 
The site plan illustrates how this parking will be provided with the addition of 3 further 
visitor spaces.

The ground floor plan for the office units shows an integral cycle store that can
accommodate up to 8 cycles

In my view the provision of car and cycle parking for the proposed dwellings and 
office accommodation meets the standards and accords with Policy T2 of SOLP. 

7.32 Provision of internal access within the site. Policy T2 of SOLP requires the 
provision of adequate loading/unloading, circulation and turning space for new 
development.

The proposed site plan shows how the access will remain and will continue into the 
development with a width of approximately 5.0m. This width is suitable to 

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

accommodate 2-way flow of cars and HGVs as advised by Figure 7.1 of Manual for 
Streets.

The layout of the access road has been designed to provide a turning head between 
plots 3 & 4 and the office. The main turning area also provides access into the office 
units. The turning head has sufficient dimensions to accommodate the swept path of 
a large refuse vehicle. As the turning requirements for a refuse vehicle are more 
onerous than a fire appliance or typical delivery vehicle (transit van, internet food 
delivery) I am confident that the turning head is suitable for all purposes. A further 
turning opportunity for medium delivery vehicles and, specifically, a pumped fire 
appliance is provided at the access to plots 1 & 2.

The car parking for the offices will utilise a circulatory access road system which will
assist in distributing vehicle movements through the site.

In my view the internal access arrangements for the proposed dwellings and office 
accommodation meet the requirements of Policy T2 of SOLP.

7.33 Biodiversity. Paragraph 170(d) of the NPPF advises that planning decisions should 
minimise impacts on biodiversity. Paragraph 175(a) of the NPPF applies the mitigation 
hierarchy to planning decisions, where impacts on biodiversity should first be avoided 
where possible, then mitigated when impacts cannot be avoided and, as a last resort, 
adequately compensated for when mitigation is not sufficient. 

There is a strong presumption in favour of retaining areas designated for biodiversity 
interest, such as local wildlife sites, supported by development plan saved policies C6, 
C7 and C9 of the SOLP, policy CSB1 of the SOCS and NP23 of the BNP. 

These aims are echoed in Policy ENV3E of ESOLP (limited weight).

The site has been subject to general ecological surveys and specialist bat surveys. 
The surveys did not reveal the presence of any significant ecological constraints. 
Overall, the proposals will involve a small increase in the area of soft landscaping over 
and above the current situation and would result in a net gain for biodiversity in 
accordance with Policy CSB1 of the Core Strategy.

7.34 Provision of gardens. Minimum standards for new residential development are 
recommended in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and in Policy D3 of the Local 
Plan. In this case a minimum of 100 square metres of private garden area would be 
required for 3, 4 or 5 bed dwellings; 2 and 1 bed units would need a garden area of 50 
and 35 square metres respectively. 

DES5E of ESOLP – echoes this policy but has limited weight at this stage.

All the plots provide for gardens in excess of the required standard and accord with 
Policy D3 of SOLP and DES5E of ESOLP.

7.35 Housing mix. The SOCS Policy CSH4 requires developments providing market 
housing to demonstrate an appropriate housing mix to meet current demand. Policy 
H11E of ESOLP echoes this policy but has limited weight at this stage. 
The district currently has two published documents for considering housing mix which 
provide detail on the recommended mix of housing type and size.- the Oxfordshire 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2014 and the South Oxfordshire 
Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) 2012.

Page 22



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

The HNA was a more thorough assessment than the SHMA and is based on original 
survey data and 2001 census data using the ODPM model and Guide to Good 
Practice.

The SHMA uses secondary data from the 2011 census and GL Hearn demographic
projections. It suggests that councils should have regard to other up to date evidence 
of
need and the existing mix and turnover of properties at a local level.

The HNA found a shortfall of smaller units, especially two bedroom properties, in both 
the market and affordable sectors. The HNA indicated 50% 1 and 2 bedrooms and 
50% 3 bedrooms plus.

The SHMA also found a shortfall in smaller units but recommended for most units to 
be 2 and 3 bedrooms. The findings from both are summarised below.

It is important to note that the SHMA identifies that when applying the housing mix 
targets regard should be had to “the nature of the development site and character of 
the area, and to up-to-date evidence of need as well as the existing mix and turnover 
of properties at the local level.” This means that there will inevitably be some diversion 
from the SHMA targets

The proposed mix for this development in comparison to the HNA and SHMA 
requirements is as follows;

1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed
HNA 50% 50%
SHMA 6% 27% 43% 24%
Proposed 0% 40% 20% 40%

Whilst technically the mix is not too out of kilter with the HNA and SMHA none of the 
units could really be described as meeting the need for smaller units given the floor 
areas involved. The size of units is however, is in proportion to the site and the character 
of other dwellings in the vicinity in my view and I do not believe that a refusal of planning 
permission on the mix of units is justified on these grounds.

7.36 Affordable Housing. Policy CSH3 requires that affordable housing is sought on all 
development of 3 or more houses. In May 2016 the Court of Appeal effectively re-
instated the Government’s ministerial statement on affordable housing from November 
2014. This means that developments of no more than 10 homes (with a gross 
floorspace not exceeding 1,000 sq m) would be exempted from levies for affordable 
housing and tariff-based contributions. In designated rural areas, National Parks and 
AONBs, the exemptions would apply only to developments of 6 or more dwellings.

In this case, the site is in the AONB and the lesser threshold of 6 units applies. The 
proposal is for 5 dwellings, which is below the threshold and there is no requirement to 
provide affordable housing in this case.
 

Page 23



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

7.37 Listed building impacts. All listed buildings are designated heritage assets. Section 
16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

Paragraph 192 of the NPPF identifies issues to consider in respect of any heritage 
asset when determining applications which should take account of the following;

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness.

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2018) requires that great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 

Paragraph 196 of the NPP makes it clear that where any harm is less substantial to 
the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against
the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its
optimum viable use. 

CON5 of SOLP and NP6 of the BNP are the relevant local plan policies used to secure 
appropriate development within the setting of listed buildings. ENV7E is the relevant 
policy from ESOLP but has limited weight.

7.38 Goulds Grove is a former farm site historically associated with the grade II listed
building Troy situated to the south. The site contains various historic buildings
generally of C19 construction including a 10-bay barn and attached brick
building, and brick buildings adjoining the stables of Troy. The historic farm
buildings have been treated as being curtilage listed to Troy and are considered
to fall within its setting. There are two cottages to the north west fronting Old London 
Road which should be considered as non-designated heritage assets. 

7.39 Although the conservation officer considers that more could be done generally to design 
the new buildings in a manner that better responds to the agricultural character of the
site, she acknowledges that this is not the basis for a heritage objection which
needs to centre upon what makes the listed building Troy significant. The
applicant has reiterated the limited contribution that this site makes to the
significance of Troy due to the severed historical functional connection between
the two sites early on in its history and I would agree with this assessment. 

Given that the principal historical agricultural building in the group, which is also closest 
to Troy, the listed building, is preserved as the office accommodation, I agree that the 
most important aspects of the farm group will remain legible. The conservation officer 
considers that that neither the significance nor special interest of the listed building, 
would be harmed by means of adverse development within its setting.

The conservation officer welcomes the changes made to the scheme in the amended 
plans. The changes are better in urban design terms with plots 3-5 addressing the road 
with elevations that are more cottage-like in their design and therefore responding better 

Page 24



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

to the hierarchy of buildings in the area. There is also greater retention of some of the 
lesser curtilage listed outbuildings which will help to preserve the character of the site.

Information has been provided to demonstrate that the mezzanine levels in the
barn for office accommodation would be self-supporting and would not affect the timber 
frame so this element is now acceptable. I agree that the principle of refurbishment and
repair to the barn is acceptable and that the extent of repair and nature of the
refurbishment can be agreed via a suitably worded pre commencement
condition requiring the submission of a schedule of works.

7.40 Overall, the works comply with Section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Building and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and I therefore recommend that listed building
consent is granted for the works to convert the barn and other alterations to
lesser curtilage listed buildings.

In determining the planning application, there is a statutory duty under section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which they possess. Based on the above assessment 
the conservation officer considers that the special interest of the listed building Troy 
would be preserved and consider that this part of the Act is fulfilled. Any harm identified 
is less than substantial and there are benefits to the rural economy as a result of the 
development outweigh that harm. Overall, I am satisfied that the proposal accords with 
the heritage policies of the Development Plan.

7.41 Pre-commencement conditions. The applicant will need to agree to all the pre-
commencement conditions requested before planning permission and listed building 
consent can be granted as required by under The Town and Country Planning (Pre-
commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, Section 100ZA (6) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990(a).

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). CIL is liable for the residential element of the 
proposal.

Other issues.
1. The parish council have objected on the grounds that the proposal would involve 

the loss of a historically significant agricultural settlement and the proposed 
change of use to residential/office space would jeopardise the longer-term 
viability of the surrounding agricultural land. I do not consider that this concern 
holds particular weight because none of the buildings are currently in agricultural 
use and have not been for some time, this has not affected the viability of the 
surrounding agricultural land. 

2. The parish council have also expressed the view that the parish is already 
growing by 60% over the lifetime of the Emerging Local Plan and does not need 
any further new homes. The majority of the growth allocated in the BNP is within 
the village, there is very little if any new rural housing coming forward in the BNP 
and in my view this proposal will not necessarily draw on the services of the 
village.

3. An objector has commented that the applications should be refused on the 
grounds that;

Page 25



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

 the scheme cannot not demonstrate a set of very special circumstances – very 
special circumstances only apply to development within the Green Belt, which is 
not the case here;
 the applicant has not provided adequate justification for the harm to protected 
assets (see paragraphs 7.36 to 7.39); and
 no need, or clear demonstration has been established i.e. no public benefits, 
or housing shortages have been proven that could possibly justify this Scheme’s 
approval (see paragraph 7.39).

8.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSIONS
8.1 Planning Balance 

As already identified, planning legislation requires that applications should be
determined in accordance with Development Plan policies, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. It is noted that some conflict with the development 
has been identified in respect of highway issues. As such, this conflict needs to be 
considered and weighed in the planning balance to effectively determine whether the 
scheme is a sustainable form of development and there is sufficient justification for the 
development proceed. 

Against this conflict, there are other material considerations to weigh in the planning 
balance, as outlined in the report. Much of the site is previously developed or there is a 
prior approval for residential use which establishes a realistic fallback position. There is 
no increase in traffic generation associated with the development, the number of large-
scale traffic movements will decrease, and the accident record for the last 5 years 
indicates that no accidents have occurred. The NPPF makes is clear development 
should only be refused on transport terms if these matters are impacted to a severe 
degree.  Weighing all these issues against the conflict with the development plan, I 
consider these other material considerations outweigh the conflict.

In respect of heritage impacts the immediate setting of the listed building will be 
preserved by the retention of the nearest barn. In terms of landscape impacts, the 
reduction in floor area and built form and the provision of buildings of a residential scale 
that are locally distinctive will preserve and enhance the landscape setting and natural 
beauty of the AONB. Neighbour, biodiversity and contamination impacts are also 
deemed to be acceptable.

As a result I recommend that planning permission is approved. 

8.2 I recommend that listed building consent is granted because the development 
comprises appropriate and sympathetic alterations to curtilage listed buildings to 
facilitate and bring forward viable uses. In turn this will ensure the future security of the 
assets. Impact on historic fabric is unlikely to be significant. As such, subject to the 
attached conditions, the works comply with the relevant development plan policies.

9.0 RECOMMENDATION
9.1 That Planning Permission is granted subject to the following conditions.

Standard conditions;
1 : Commencement - Outline with Reserved Matters
2 : Approved plans 

Pre-commencement conditions
3 : Schedule of materials
4 : Phased scheme for contamination
5 : Construction Traffic Management Plan

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 4 November 2020

6 : Landscaping scheme
7: Schedule of repairs for curtilage listed building
8 : No surface water drainage to highway
9 : Provide access and parking in accordance with plan
10 : Contamination remediation report prior to occupation
11 : Mix of dwelling sizes plot 3, 4 to be two bed units and plot 5 to be a 3 bed 
       unit

9.2 That Listed Building Consent is granted subject to the attached conditions.

Standard conditions;
1 : Commencement 3 years – LBC
2 : Approved plans 

Pre-commencement conditions
3 : Schedule of materials
4: Schedule or repairs and alterations to the curtilage listed building

Informatives;
5: Benson NP policies

Author:        Sharon Crawford
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29

Agenda Item 7P19/S0821/FUL and P19/S0822/LB

SAV_SHACRA
Typewriter
Appendix 1

SAV_SHACRA_1
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_2
Typewriter
Grade IIListed building

SAV_SHACRA_3
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_4
Typewriter
The site

SAV_SHACRA_5
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_6
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_7
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_8
Typewriter
RAF Benson &Ewelme

SAV_SHACRA_9
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_10
Typewriter
NuffieldCommon

SAV_SHACRA_11
Typewriter
curtilage
listed 
buildings



EXISTING
ACCESS

EXISTING
ACCESS

EXISTING
ACCESS

EXISTING
ACCESS

EXISTING
ACCESS

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

V

V

V

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 5

P3

P3

P4

P4

V

UNIT 1

UNIT 2

OFFICE PARKING

UNIT 3

UNIT 4 15

PLOT 3

PLOT 4

0m 10m 20m

N
 O

 R
 T

 H

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

1:200

July 2019 MM ***

3358.101 B

Buildings to be
removed

Existing trees

Proposed new
trees

Visibility Splays
2.4m x 114m to the
West and
2.4m x 215m to the
East

Appendix 2

P
age 30

AutoCAD SHX Text
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
bole

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
bole

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
bole

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
stump

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
RNB

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
bole



0m 10 50m20 30 40

N
 O

 R
 T

 H

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

COLOURED SITE PLAN

1:500

July 2019 MM ***

3358.109 A

P
age 31



N
 O

 R
 T

 H

0m 10m 20m

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

V

V

V

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 5

P3

P3

P4

P4

V

UNIT 1

UNIT 2

OFFICE PARKING

UNIT 3

UNIT 4 15

PLOT 3

PLOT 4

0m 10m 20m

N
 O

 R
 T

 H

B

C

C

D

D

A

B
A

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

SITE SECTIONS

1:200

July 2019 MM ***

3358.108 A

SECTION A - A

SECTION B - B

SECTION C - C

SECTION D - D

P
age 32

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
bole

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
bole

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
bole

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
stump

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
RNB



EAST ELEVATION NORTH ELEVATION WEST ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION SECTION G-G EAST ELEVATION
GARAGE

WEST ELEVATION
GARAGE

Bed 1

Bed 2

Ensuite

W

AC

W

Bed 3

Ensuite

Bed 4

Dressing

Bath

W

WBed 5

G

G

G

G

G

G

Kitchen

Family

Dining

Living

Utility

CL

Hall

1168

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
0m 5m 10m

FIRST FLOOR PLAN ROOF PLAN

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

PLOT 1
PROPOSED PLANS &
ELEVATIONS 

1:100

Feb 2019 MM ***

3358.102

P
age 33



EAST ELEVATION SOUTH ELEVATION WEST ELEVATION

NORTH ELEVATION SECTION H-H WEST ELEVATION
GARAGE

EAST ELEVATION
GARAGE

H

H

H

H

H

H

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
0m 5m 10m

FIRST FLOOR PLAN ROOF PLAN

Bed 1

Bed 2

Ensuite

W

AC

W

Bed 3

Ensuite

Bed 4

Dressing

Bath

W

W Bed 5

Kitchen

Family

Dining

Living

Utility

CL

Hall

1168

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

PLOT 2
PROPOSED PLANS &
ELEVATIONS 

1:100

Feb 2019 MM ***

3358.103

P
age 34



1220

1512

1512

SOUTH ELEVATION

Bed 2

Bed 1

Ensuite

Bath

W

F

F

WEST ELEVATION SECTION F-FEAST ELEVATION

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
0m 5m 10m

FIRST FLOOR PLAN ROOF PLAN

F

F

1220

Dining

Kitchen

Family

Hall Living

CL/Utility

Dining

Kitchen

Family

HallLiving

CL/Utility

F

F

NORTH ELEVATION

Bed 2

Bed 1

Ensuite

Bath

W

AC/CDressing

2000mm

1800mm

Living Kitchen

Bed 1 Bath

DressingAC/C

1800mm

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

PLOTS 3 & 4
PROPOSED PLANS &
ELEVATIONS 

1:100

Jan 2020 MM ***

3358.104 C

P
age 35



GROUND FLOOR PLAN
0m 5m 10m

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

WEST ELEVATION EAST ELEVATION

ROOF PLAN

Dining

Kitchen

Utility/Pantry 

HallFamily

1220

WC

Living

C

1800mm

Bed 1

Bed 3

Bed 2

Ensuite

Void

1800mm

DressingDressing

AC

Bath

W

NORTH ELEVATION SOUTH ELEVATION

FLOOR PLAN ROOF PLAN

CarportGarden Store Carport Carport Bins and Bikes

WEST ELEVATION SOUTH ELEVATION NORTH ELEVATION EAST ELEVATION

Existing window

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

PLOT 5
PROPOSED PLANS &
ELEVATIONS 

1:100

Jan 2020 MM ***

3358.105 B

PLOT 5 CARPORT

P
age 36



ROOF PLAN

I

I

UNIT 1

Bin Store

Cycle Store

Kitchen

1512 1512

WC

UNIT 2 UNIT 3 UNIT 4

LobbyLobby

Kitchen

WC

Kitchen

WC

Kitchen

WC

G
la

ss
 w

al
l

G
la

ss
 w

al
l

G
la

ss
 w

al
l

G
la

ss
 w

al
l

I

IGROUND FLOOR PLAN
0m 5m 10m

Mezzanine Mezzanine Mezzanine Mezzanine

Void

Void Void

VoidVoidVoidVoid

I

IFIRST FLOOR PLAN

SECTION I - I

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

THE MAIN BARN
PROPOSED PLANS

1:100

Feb 2019 MM ***

3358.106 -

P
age 37



WEST ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATIONNORTH ELEVATION
0m 5m 10m

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

THE MAIN BARN
PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

1:100

feb 2019 MM ***

3358.107 -

P
age 38



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

V

V

V

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 3

PLOT 4

PLOT 5

P3

P3

P4

P4

V

UNIT 1

UNIT 2

OFFICE PARKING

UNIT 3

UNIT 4 15

0m 10 50m20 30 40

N
 O

 R
 T

 H

PLANNING

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

GOULDS GROVE
EWELME

Client :

ST JOHN HOMES
(THAMES VALLEY) LTD

Job :

PROPOSED
ACCESS VISIBILITY

1:500

May 2019 MM ***

3358.114

Existing trees

Proposed new
trees

Visibility Splays
2.4m x 114m to the
West and
2.4m x 215m to the
East

P
age 39

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
bole

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
bole

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
bole

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
stump

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
sap

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
MKR

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
RNB

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
bole



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2923/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 16.9.2019
PARISH GORING
WARD MEMBER(S) Maggie Filipova-Rivers
APPLICANT Frenbury Developments Ltd and Elegant 

Homes (Caversham) Ltd
SITE Land to the east of Manor Road to the south of 

Little Croft and to west of Elmcroft Manor Road 
Goring

PROPOSAL Erection of 20 dwellings and associated works 
with all matters reserved except for access (as 
per amended plans and information received 29 
November 2019)

OFFICER Amanda Rendell

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND SITE DESCRIPTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the 

Service Planning Manager due to the level of the local interest and the 
comments of Goring Parish Council on this neighbourhood plan site.   

1.2 The application site is shown at Appendix A and comprises a flat pasture 
greenfield site cited as being 2.24ha and situated at the southern edge of 
Goring between the railway line and the river Thames. It is bordered to the 
west by Manor Road and the residential area of Elmcroft to the east. 
Littlecroft is situated to the north and open countryside to the south. A public 
right of way runs along Manor Road which connects to the towpath along the 
river.

1.3 The site is enclosed by a good number of mature trees and hedges, many of 
which are protected by a tree preservation order (TPO). The entire site is 
located within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 

1.4 The site is located approximately 0.7km from the centre of Goring village 
(0.5km walking distance) and 0.5km from the railway station. Goring village 
offers a shopping arcade, post office, banks, a library, public houses, 
churches, a village hall and a school. 
 

1.5 Goring is defined as a larger village. The neighbourhood plan area of Goring 
is wholly within the Chilterns AONB and is affected by Flood Zones. The 
application site is situated in Flood Zones 1 and 2. Taking into account the 
allowance for climate change, part of the site adjoining Manor Road (and 
Manor Road itself) are treated as within Flood Zone 3a. The site levels slope 
gently downwards from east to west towards Manor Road. The nearest river 
(River Thames) is approximately 450m away (see Appendix B showing the 
site in the wider area.)

Page 41

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2923/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

1.6 The site (GNP3) is allocated in the Goring Neighbourhood Plan (GNP) for 20 
dwellings under Policy 07 which sets out  list of 14 criteria that an application 
must meet. These are set out in further detail later on Appendix C along with 
the site allocation policy in full. 

1.7 This planning application seeks outline planning permission for 20 dwellings 
with all matters reserved for future consideration except access into the site 
as shown below on Figure 1. Proposed site layout.

Figure 1. Proposed site layout

1.8 The application is accompanied by several technical assessments, some of 
which have been revised/amended during the course of the application:

 Landscape and visual Impact assessment
 Flood risk assessment
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment
 Ecology Report
 Drainage Strategy
 Groundwater Monitoring
 Transport Statement 
 Environmental Agency pre-application response. 

Page 42



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

2.0 PROPOSAL AND REVISIONS TO SCHEME SINCE SUBMISSION
2.1 The development proposes 20 dwellings on the site, with 40% being 

affordable. It will comprise a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bed terraced, semi-detached 
and detached houses, with associated supporting infrastructure, individual 
private gardens and on plot parking spaces.
 

2.2 The following housing mix is proposed:

1 -bed 2 -bed 3 -bed 4 -bed+ Total
Market 
Homes

0 3 5 4 12

Affordabl
e homes

0 4 4 0 8

Total 0 7 9 4 20

2.3 Of the affordable units, it is proposed that there will be 4 x 2 bed and 2 x 3 
bed affordable rented and 2 x 2 bed shared ownership units.

2.4 Vehicular access to the site will be from Manor Road. The proposal also 
includes the provision of two footpath links that will serve the site, one from 
Manor Road and the other from Elmcroft, to the east. The footpath from 
Elmcroft is also designed to be wide enough to enable dry emergency vehicle 
access in case of a 1:100 year flood event. 

2.5 It is proposed to undertake minor land re-contouring in the central part of the 
land and construct all 20 dwellings within Flood Zone 1 levels on the eastern 
part of the site. The access road would cross Flood Zone 3a (including an 
allowance for climate change) to the west. 

2.6 As the application is in outline, details of the design will be left to reserved 
matters stage. However, the developer indicates that it is proposed that the  
architecture will complement the character of the existing nearby properties. 

2.7 This planning application was originally submitted in September 2019. As a 
result of comments made following consultation with statutory and non-
statutory consultees, further revisions / additional information has been 
submitted, as follows:

2.8  Revised Flood Risk Assessment (March 2020)
 Revised Drainage Layout Plan (June 2020) - showing surface water 

attenuation tank and drainage run moved away from tree protection 
zones of T40 and G43.

 Revised access plan/Manor Road width survey assessment/ground 
penetrating radar survey/arboricultural impact assessment and method 
statement (June 2020). Additional arboricultural and highways 
evidence to demonstrate that the access into the site can be achieved 

Page 43



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

without impacting upon protected trees at the entrance to the site on 
Manor Road.

 Revised Tree Protection Plan (July 2020) showing the emergency 
access moved away from the stem of T17 and the footpath between T2 
and T3 as no-dig a well as additional tree protection fencing.

 Updated Transport Assessment (June 2020) to take into account 
revised access proposals. 

 Additional landscape information (June 2020) - Additional offset 
between the southern built line and the site edge. This includes 
additional tree planting along the frontage of the meadow, along street 
and garden trees provided in between groups of houses, additional 
standard trees on southern boundary,  

3.0
3.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Please note the comments below represent the most recent comments on the 
revised plans and all comments can be viewed in full on the Council’s website 
www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning reference number. 

Goring Parish Council – Neither support nor object to the application. They 
comment that previous concerns are not addresses; the access is lengthy and 
could be subject to flooding; an isthmus is being created which could result in 
houses being cut off by flooding. No access for emergency services during 
flooding. Particular attention should be paid to comments by drainage, the 
Environment Agency and the Chilterns Conservation Board. Plans for access 
cannot be adequately assessed in isolation.

Countryside Officer-No objections subject to the imposition of a detailed 
biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy (BMES). 

Drainage – No objections. Having reviewed the information submitted, the 
drainage officer is content that the surface water drainage scheme and flood 
mitigation  measures are feasible for the proposed development, subject to 
the imposition of conditions regarding: 1) the submission of a floodplain 
compensation scheme; 2) a detailed surface water drainage scheme to be 
submitted with the RM application;3) the submission of a foul water drainage 
scheme; 4) the submission of a strategy and programme for groundwater 
monitoring and 5) the submission of a safe egress and access plan prior to 
the occupation of any dwelling. 

Forestry Officer  - No objections following the submission of amended 
information regarding impact on protected trees, subject to conditions 
regarding 1) the submission of a Tree protection measures 2)details of all 
drainage and utilities 3) a detailed schedule of timings for arboricultural 
supervision for works within root protection areas 4) landscaping details.

Air Quality – No objections subject to the imposition of conditions regarding 
1) EV Charging points 2) sustainable travel packs 3) gas fired boilers to meet 
a minimum standard of <40 mgNOx/kWh and 4) all development to provide 
some form of secure cycle storage. 

Page 44



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

Contaminated Land  No objections based on the information submitted there 
does not appear to be any potential sources of contaminated land that could 
impact the development site. 

Env. Protection Team  No objections.

Housing Development  No objections.  The team are pleased to see the 
suggested mix for 8 affordable units across affordable rented and shared 
ownership whilst meeting the unit sizes. 

Leisure – No objections subject to the development following Sport 
England’s Active Design Guide Principles to promote walkable communities 
and connected walking and cycling routes.

Oxfordshire County Council (Highways Authority) No objections subject to 
conditions 1) New vehicle access 2) Vision splay details 3) Estate Accesses, 
Driveways and Turning Areas 4) No Surface Water Drainage to Highway 5) 
details of swales/sustainable drainage 6) Travel Information Pack. A number 
of informatives are also recommended. 

Oxfordshire County Council (Lead Local Flood Authority)  No comments to 
make on the application and would recommend consultation with the SODC 
drainage team. 

Oxfordshire County Council (Archaeology) No objections subject to 
conditions requiring a programme of archaeological investigation prior to the 
commencement of any development on the site.   

Oxfordshire County Council (Education)  No objection subject to a s106 
contribution of £86,651 towards expansion of secondary and sixth form 
capacity at Langtree School

Thames Water Development Control  No objections in respect of surface 
water, water network infrastructure capacity, waste water network and 
sewage treatment works infrastructure capacity subject to the developer 
following the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water. Advice is 
provided regarding protection of groundwater, construction near water mains, 
and underground water assets.

Urban Design Officer No objections However, a number of comments and 
recommendations are made for improvements.

Waste Management Officer No objections

Crime Prevention Design Adviser  No objections subject to conditions being 
imposed regarding Secure by Design principles. Advice provided.

Environment Agency  No objections. The EA initially advised  that they do 
not wish to be consulted but have recently confirmed the development will 
meet the NPPF requirements in relation to flood risk if a planning condition is 

Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

included confirming mitigation measures covering 1) finished floor levels to be 
set no lower than 44.67 AOD and 2) compensatory storage to be provided as 
indicated.   

Chilterns Conservation Board – Object on the following grounds:
 Have consistently opposed the development of this site
 Density and form of the proposed development is not in character to a 

rural edge to the AONB
 Development pushed to southern extremities, modest landscape 

setting and landscape buffer results in a failure to conserve the special 
qualities of the AONB

 Material erosion of boundary between south eastern section of the site 
and wider AONB.

 Insufficient mitigation to address impact of development from the south
 

Landscape Architect – No objections. Additional information and 
amendments have addressed many concerns regarding the impact on the 
southern boundary. The revised site layout plan indicated that there is 
sufficient space to address outstanding issues at Reserved Matters stage. 

Neighbouring Residents

Letters of representation have been received from the occupiers of 47 
properties with one letter from the agent acting on behalf of the GNP Reserve 
Site at Gatehampton Road raising the following objections:

 Inconsistencies and contradictions between the sequential test (carried 
out as part of the GNP) and Flood Risk Assessment

 Development should require a new sequential test
 Competing mitigation to address AONB and flooding risk
 Referendum version of GNP avoids building in flood zone 2 and 3
 Development is contrary to what residents voted for
 Development contrary to GNP and Strategic Plan
 Flood risk-development should not be built in flood zone 
 Development out of context with immediate area
 Location of SUD’s, Surface Water/Foul Water Drainage proposals
 Impact on AONB and lack of exceptional circumstances for 

development
 Impact on trees due to pedestrian/emergency access from Elmcroft
 Potential for crime and anti-social behaviour
 Density and impact on rural character of area
 Alternative sites available to meet housing need
 Loss of privacy and overlooking
 Risk to trees including those covered by TPO
 Impact of lighting
 Application should be full rather than outline
 Impact on public views
 Loss of security during construction and when development is 

complete

Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

 Traffic impact in the village and on Manor Road
 Pedestrian access to Elmcroft could be changed to allow vehicles to 

choose which entrance to use.
 Impact on wildlife
 Layout cramped and incongruous
 Noise impact
 Change in climate change allowance calculations
 Drainage issues
 Application site cannot accommodate 20 houses, only a smaller 

number in current flood zone 1 with the remainder on the reserve site 
at Gatehampton Road.  

In addition to the above, a group of local residents have commissioned an 
independent technical review by Waterco of the developer’s flood risk and 
drainage proposals Ten residents have also sought legal advice from a firm of 
solicitors seeking support for the objections.

One local resident (DB) has sought legal advice from a firm of solicitors 
seeking support for the objections.  

One resident (also a chartered civil engineer) has also undertaken his own 
detailed review of the FRA    

One letter signed by 48 local residents in 32 households raising concern 
regarding landscape impact, impact upon the AONB, density and flood risk. 

One letter signed by the occupiers of 8 dwellings comparing Goring Parish 
Council’s objection to the planning application (P20/S2488/FUL) for another 
neighbourhood site in Goring and this current application at Manor Road.  

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P15/S3483/O - Refused (21/01/2016) - Appeal dismissed (21/09/2016)

outline development of up to 35 dwellings with access, garages and 
landscaping. (as amended by drawing no 3298-104C and revised planning 
statement accompanying Agent's email dated 8 December 2015 which 
increases the number of units from up to 27 to up to 35). See Figure 2. for 
previous layout. 

P13/S3754/O - Refused (04/02/2014) - Appeal dismissed (31/03/2015)
Development of 3 detached dwellings with garages and access. As clarified 
by tree schedule and arboricultural impact assessment accompanying agent's 
email dated 16 January 2014. As amended by drawing no 2060AK0002E 
accompanying agent's email dated 21 January 2014.

Page 47

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3483/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S3754/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

Figure 2. Previous 2015 dismissed appeal scheme P15/S3483/O.

5.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
5.1 The proposal is beneath the thresholds set in Schedule 2 of the Town and 

Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as 
amended) as it does not exceed 150 homes and the site area is under 5ha. 
However, as the site is within a ‘sensitive area’(AONB) it has been screened 
under Regulation 8. This concluded that the development did not need to be 
accompanied by an EIA.

6.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
6.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Updated in June 2019 and the associated NPPF Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) 

6.2 The Development Plan comprises:
 The South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
 The South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
 The Goring Neighbourhood Plan (GNP) 2018

The Council is preparing a new South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034 (ESOLP)
which will set out how development will be planned and delivered across 
South Oxfordshire to 2034. The Examination into the emerging plan has now 
been held. At present, limited weight can be given to the strategy and policies.

The relevant Development Plan policies to this proposal are:

6.3 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies:

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity

Page 48



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

CSC1  -  Delivery and contingency
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSG1   -  Green infrastructure
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM1  -  Transport
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ1  -  Renewable energy
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design
CSQ4  -  Design briefs 
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

6.4 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) Policies:

C3  -  Special character of the River Thames
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse effect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON11  -  Protection of archaeological remains
CON12  -  Archaeological field evaluation
CON13  -  Archaeological investigation recording & publication
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D12  -  Public art
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6  -  Community safety
D7  -  Access for all
EP1  -  Adverse effect on people and environment
EP2  -  Adverse effect by noise or vibration
EP3  -  Adverse effect by external lighting
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP7  -  Impact on ground water resources
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G3  -  Development well served by facilities and transport
G4  -  Protection of Countryside
G5  -  Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
R1  -  Outdoor sport or play areas
R2  -  Provision of play areas on new housing development
R6  -  Public open space in new residential development
R8  -  Protection of existing public right of way

Page 49



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
T7  -  Protection and improvement to footpath and highway network
T8  -  Provision and management of car parking

6.5 Goring Neighbourhood Plan (GNP) 2018-2033 (Made on 18 July 2018)
The Goring Neighbourhood Plan (GNP) was officially adopted or ‘made’ by 
South Oxfordshire District Council following an independent Examination and 
a positive referendum. 

The GNP allocates four development sites for housing: 
1. GNP2-Icknield Road 
2. GNP3-Manor Road
3. GNP6-Wallingford Road/Spring Road 
4. GNP10-Thames Court. 

A fifth site (GNP8-Gatehampton Road) is held in reserve in case the above 
four sites do not produce approximately 94 new dwellings. Figure 3 below 
sets out these sites.

Figure 3: Allocated development sites in the GNP and reserve site 

6.6 In accordance with the NPPF, the site has been subject to a Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment and Sequential Test via its allocation in the Goring 
Neighbourhood Plan.  

Page 50



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

6.7 In respect of Site GNP3, the site subject of this application, modifications 
relating to the updated Environment Agency’s flood map, were made in 
relation to Site GNP3 allocated for residential development under Policy 7. 
Criteria 5  of Policy 7 was modified to say: 

“All dwellings must be built in Flood Zone 1 levels and built to safe standards 
recommended by the Environment Agency and OCC to protect against long-
term flood risk”. 

Where the policy had previously referred to “in flood zone 1 “ this was 
replaced with “in flood zone 1 levels”.  The addition of the word “levels” in the 
policy was to provide clarity as to how the policy should be interpreted. This  
acknowledged that the re-contouring referred to in the examiner’s report may 
assist in the delivery of housing on site by adapting land on which dwellings 
are to be constructed to levels equivalent to Flood Zone 1. The modification 
was consistent with the examiner’s considerations and recommendations and 
accepted in the made Neighbourhood Plan.

6.8 Policy 03 of the GNP indicates that a mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet 
the needs of current and future households will be sought on all new 
residential development. 

Other relevant policies are:
Policy 11: Conserving and enhancing Goring’s landscape
Policy 12: Conserve and enhance biodiversity
Policy 13: Light pollution
Policy 14: Air Quality and pollution
Policy 15: Water, sewerage and drainage capacity
Policy 16: Building design principles
Policy 17: The historic environment
Policy 18: Open space, sport and recreation in new residential development
Policy 19: Adequate parking within new developments
Policy 20: Walking and cycling

6.9 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local plan 2034 (ESOLP)

The council is currently progressing the emerging Local Plan through the 
examination stage. The plan currently carries limited weight. Relevant policies 
include;

CF3E  -  New open space, sport and recreation facilities
CF4E  -  Existing open space, sport and recreation facilities
CF5E  -  Open space, sport and recreation in new residential development
DES10E  -  Renewable energy
DES1E  -  Delivering high quality development
DES2E  -  Enhancing local character
DES3E  -  Design and Access Statements
DES4E  -  Masterplans for allocated sites and major development
DES5E  -  Outdoor amenity space

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

DES6E  -  Residential amenity
DES7E  -  Public art
DES8E  -  Efficient use of resources
DES9E  -  Promoting sustainable design
ENV12E  -  Pollution - Impact of development on human health, the natural 
environment and/or local amenity
ENV1E  -  Landscape and countryside
ENV3E  -  Biodiversity Non designated sites, habitats and species
ENV4E  -  Watercourses
ENV5E  -  Green infrastructure in new developments
ENV9E  -  Archaeology and scheduled monuments
EP1E  -  Air quality
EP4E  -  Flood risk
H11E  -  Housing mix
H1E  -  Delivering new homes
H4E  -  Housing in the larger villages
H9E  -  Affordable housing
INF1E  -  Infrastructure Provision
INF4E  -  Water resources
STRAT1E  -  The overall strategy
STRAT2E  -  Housing and employment requirements
STRAT4E  -  Strategic development
STRAT5E  -  Residential densities for major residential development
TRANS2E  -  Promoting sustainable transport and accessibility
TRANS4E  -  Transport assessment, transport statements and travel plans
TRANS5E  -  Consideration of development proposals

6.10 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
Developer Contributions SPD 2016 

6.11 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in 
the processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010.

6.12 Other material planning considerations
 Chilterns AONB Management Plan 2019-2024
 Chilterns AONB Design Guidance
 Landscape Character Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 November 

2017 
 Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study (Oxfordshire County 

Council, 2004) 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

7.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
7.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Principle of development including Councils housing land supply 
 Exceptional development in the AONB
 Other Material planning considerations

-Flood Risk
-Landscape Impact
-Proposed Housing Mix/Affordable housing
-Highways and Access (including pedestrian and cycle access) 
and Parking arrangements.
-Drainage/Impact on public water supply
-Design and Layout
-Impact on Ecology/Biodiversity
-Impact on Trees
-Archaeology
-Residential amenity/Privacy
-Waste Management
-Energy Efficiency

 Infrastructure Requirements - Community Infrastructure Levy/ S106

Principle of Development 

7.2 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Proposed development that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan should be 
approved and proposed development that conflicts should be refused unless 
other material considerations indicate otherwise.  The development plan 
currently comprises the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS), the saved 
policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) and the Goring 
Neighbourhood Plan (GNP) 2018.

7.3 Paragraph 73 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires Local 
Planning Authorities to identify and annually update a supply of specific 
deliverable sites sufficient to provide five years’ worth of housing against their 
housing requirements set out in adopted strategic policies, or against their 
local housing need where the strategic policies are more than five years old. 

7.4 In July 2020 the Council issued its latest assessment of the district’s five- year 
housing land supply for South Oxfordshire. Based on an annual requirement 
of 776 dwellings a year (the midpoint of the range recommended by the 2014 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)), and applying a 20% buffer to 
that requirement, the assessment shows 9.15 years’ supply. 

7.5 In terms of the principle of the development, the site is allocated for 
development in the Goring Neighbourhood Plan for the development of 20 
dwellings (GNP3), the justification for this being set out below. 
    

Page 53



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

7.6 The GNP Decision Statement “ acknowledges that neighbourhood plans are 
required to take a balanced view, supporting the strategic priorities of the 
Local Plan and which does not promote less development then set out in the 
Development Plan, whilst giving great weight to conserving the landscape and 
scenic beauty of the AONB and directing development away from areas at 
risk of flooding. The Plan is supported by a robust site selection process. All 
sites were assessed for potential impacts upon landscape and character and 
visual amenity and sites in areas at risk of flooding were subject to 
proportionate sequential and exceptions tests. Overall, as modified by the 
examiner, the Plan proposes to deliver new residential development on four 
housing allocations sites and one reserve site where, with mitigation, 
development does not significantly harm the character and visual amenity of 
the AONB and can be carried out in such a way as to be appropriately flood 
resilient and safe for its residents throughout the development’s lifetime”. 

7.7 The GNP Decision Statement goes on to say “ The Examiner recognised in 
his report that the main issue was the tension between contributing to the 
need for housing and the constraints that arise from the village being in the 
Chilterns AONB and surrounded by it and the River Thames. The Plan is 
accompanied by a detailed evidence base which supports its assessment of 
the capacity of Goring to accommodate housing development. The council is 
satisfied that the Plan achieves an appropriate balance”.
 

7.8 The principle of development for twenty dwellings is therefore acceptable.

Exceptional development in the AONB

7.9 The site is located wholly within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB) which are part of a broad belt of chalk upland running across 
England in an arc from Dorset to Yorkshire. The Goring Gap, where the River 
Thames carves through the chalk escarpment, forms the boundary between 
the two Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty in South Oxfordshire, the other 
being the North Wessex Downs. The Chilterns AONB is generally a more 
enclosed and wooded landscape than the more open uplands of the North 
Wessex Downs. 

7.10 Paragraph 172 of the NPPF states that “Great weight should be given to 
conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, 
the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest 
status of protection in relation to these issues”.

7.11 The NPPF goes on to say that “The scale and extent of development within 
these designated areas should be limited. Planning permission should be 
refused for major development other than in exceptional circumstances, and 
where it can be demonstrated that the development is in the public interest. 
Consideration of such applications should include an assessment of:
a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national 
considerations, and the impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local 
economy;

Page 54



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or 
meeting the need for it in some other way; and
c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational 
opportunities, and the extent to which that could be moderated.

7.12 Section 84 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CROW Act) 
requires the Local Planning Authority must take actions “for the purposes of 
conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area of outstanding 
natural beauty or so much of it as is included in their area”.  

7.13 Core Strategy policy CSR1 states that “. Suitably designed and located 
development at an appropriate scale that facilitates the economic and social 
wellbeing of such areas, especially in the Larger villages in the Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty will be supported. This includes the provision of 
adequate housing to meet identified local needs”.

7.14 Goring is a larger village located wholly within the Chilterns AONB and 
therefore any development to support the economic and social wellbeing of 
the village will need to take place in the AONB and Policy CSR1 of the SOC’s 
acknowledges as much. 

7.15 As part of the GNP site allocation, a site selection process was followed, 
including Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). The examination 
process of the Neighbourhood Plan will have tested the site to ensure that it 
had regard to National Policy and also that it was in general conformity with 
the strategic policies in the adopted SOCS.  

7.16 With regard to the NPPF, the exceptional circumstances test has been 
undertaken and therefore the principle of the site for development as 
supported by Policy 07 in the GNP is acceptable. The details comprising the 
development are still required to meet the relevant policy tests and this is 
discussed below.

Other Material Planning Considerations.

Flood Risk.

7.17 Flood Zones.
The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) in 
accordance with the requirements of policy 07 (4) of the GNP. The scheme 
has been designed in detailed consultation with the Environment Agency and 
the Council’s Drainage Officer in accordance with the requirements of the 
South Oxfordshire Strategy Risk Assessment. 

7.18 Figure 4. below shows the flood extent plan submitted as part of the FRA. The 
site itself lies within three Flood Zones. The eastern section of the site nearest 
Elmcroft (not hatched) is in Flood Zone 1 which has the lowest risk of 
flooding, the central section is in Flood Zone 2 (hatched horizontal) and the 
western lower section (hatched diagonally) adjacent to Manor Road is in 
Flood Zone 3a (when the additional climate change* allowance is used). 

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

*Climate change allowances are predictions of anticipated change for peak river flow and 
peak rainfall intensity. To increase resilience to flooding, allowances for climate change 
should be included in FRA’s.

Figure 4: Flood Extent Plan (submitted as part of the Flood Risk Assessment).

7.19 Flood risk-Residential Development.
The FRA concludes that without mitigation, the proposed development on the 
land would be at risk from river flooding during a 1:100 year flood event and 
extreme 1:100 year to 1:1000 year flood event (Flood Zone 2 definition). The 
NPPG defines development of new dwellings as ‘more vulnerable’ in flood risk 
terms. Residential development is described as a compatible use within Flood 
Zone 1. 

7.20 It is proposed to locate all the dwellings on the eastern part of the site. Within 
the area defined as Flood Zone 1, it is proposed to build eight dwellings. 
Without any mitigation, some of the remaining units would be partly located 
on land currently defined as Flood Zone 2. However, it is proposed to re-
contour this central part of the site so that all of the 20 dwellings are within 
Flood Zone 1 levels in accordance with policy 07 (5). The finished floor level 
would be set at 44.67m AOD (the 1:100 plus appropriate climate change 
allowance level of 44.07 plus 600mm in accordance with Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment guidance). The Environment Agency and the Council’s Drainage 
Officer have confirmed that the proposed measures are acceptable. 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

7.21 Exception Test. 
The only part of the development within Flood Zone 3a (plus climate change) 
is the access road from Manor Road which is required under GNP policy 07 
(2).  ‘More Vulnerable’ development may be permitted in Flood Zone 3a if the 
proposals meet the requirements of the Exception Test. An Exception test is 
necessary to demonstrate and ensure that flood risk to people and property 
will be managed satisfactorily while allowing necessary development to go 
ahead in situations where suitable sites at lower risk of flooding are not 
available. The exception test has been undertaken as part of the FRA which 
acknowledges the site’s allocation in the GNP and sets out the measures to 
ensure that the development will be safe without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere.   

7.22 In accordance with GNP policy 07 (7) the road has been designed to be 
constructed to ensure that there is no run-off onto Manor Road, and that 
sustainable urban drainage systems (SUD’s) will be incorporated into the 
development.  

7.23 Flood risk-storage/compensation. 
All earth works have been carefully designed to ensure that the zone 3a flood 
capacity is preserved and the proposed development will in fact increase the 
total flood storage capacity by around 305m2 during any significant flooding 
event (1:100 year event) including the provision for climate change. 

7.24 Emergency Access.
In accordance with policy 07 (3), safe and dry access and egress is required 
during a 1 in 100 year flood event (plus appropriate climate change 
allowance). This is achieved by a footpath to the north east of the site via 
Elmcroft which can also provide emergency vehicles access to the site in 
such an event. In addition, a Flood Management Plan will be produced for the 
site and all dwellings will be provided with a copy. 

7.25 With regard to GNP policy 07 (6), in view of the advice from the Council’s 
Drainage Officer and the Environment Agency, officers are satisfied that the 
flood mitigation measures are appropriate for the proposed development 
subject to planning conditions. Conditions shall cover finished floor levels and 
details of the floodplain compensation scheme (based on the principles 
contained within the approved Flood Risk Assessment) prior to the raising of 
any grounds within Flood Zone 2 or 3 plus other standard drainage 
conditions. 

Landscape Impact. 

7.26 Policies C9 and D1 of the SOLP refer to the protection of landscape features
and principles of good design. Policy CSEN1 and CSG1 support proposals
which integrate the landscape character of the area within development.

7.27 Whilst the application is only outline, an illustrative site masterplan has been 
submitted to illustrate how twenty houses could be accommodated on site. In 
addition, further photomontages were produced to indicate how the 

Page 57



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

development might look after 1 year and then after 15 years with the ridge line 
sitting amongst the landscaping and additional planting assimilating the 
development further into its surroundings. These photomontages can be 
found in the Additional Landscape Information dated June 2020 
accompanying the planning application. 

7.28 Further to concerns raised by the Council’s Landscape Officer, additional 
information has been submitted to show street trees added to the frontage of 
the meadow along the main access and garden trees provided in-between the 
groups of houses. The southernmost properties have been moved further 
away from the southern boundary and the majority of the southern boundary 
would be retained with a 5m wide tree and shrub belt established between the 
boundary fence and the development, incorporating existing vegetation and 
additional native tree and shrub planting. 

7.29 Whilst landscape matters are reserved, it is acknowledged that these 
mitigation measures are an improvement over the original layout. The further 
specific landscaping details specified will be required at the detailed reserved 
matters stage. These include: 

 additional street/front garden planting to break up the proposed roofline 
(this may result in some adjustment to the layout at reserved matters 
stage) 

 adjustments to the massing of the proposed dwellings to vary the built 
line and ridge heights in order to break up the mass of the proposed 
built form in order to create a more rural edge of village layout to the 
proposed masterplan

 details of proposed species mix on the southern edge of the site to 
take into account the interface with the wider countryside

7.30 Given the revisions made to the scheme and detailed mitigation proposed, I 
consider that the scheme represents an appropriate response to the 
constraints and opportunities of the site and its surroundings. I am satisfied 
that the scale of the development would be appropriate to the context of the 
site and that the development would meet the design objectives of the NPPF 
and the Development Plan policies that seek to secure high quality 
developments. This includes policy CSQ3 of the SOCS, policies D1-D4 of the 
SOLP and GNP policy 07 (10 and 11) and policy 11, which together seek to 
ensure developments contribute to a sense of place, respond to local 
character and that new environments are safe and accessible whilst 
respecting the Chilterns AONB.

Proposed Market Housing Mix/Affordable housing. 

7.31 Whilst the application is submitted in outline, the Council would need to be 
assured that the proposed mix was in accordance with the housing needs 
identified most recently in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 
and supported by policy CSH4 of the SOCS. Policy 03 of the GNP indicates 
that a mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet the needs of current and future 
households will be sought on all new residential development. 

Page 58



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

7.32 In accordance with the SHMA, the following market mix would be appropriate 
on this site:

Application 
proposal

SHMA 
(market)

% market 
scheme

1 bed 0 5.7% 0

2 bed 3 26.7% 25%

3 bed 5 43.4% 41.6%

4+ bed 4 24.2% 33.3%

Total 12

7.33 The indicative layout plans would be in general conformity with the SMHA. 
Whilst the mix does indicate a slightly higher proportion of larger units on the 
site, the scheme exceeds the criteria in GNP policy 07 (1) providing a total of 
sixteen 2 and 3 bedroom new dwellings, including the affordable housing. The 
proposed mix will be secured by planning condition.  

7.34 Core Strategy policy CSH3 requires 40% affordable housing to be sought on 
all sites where there is a net gain of three or more dwellings subject to the 
viability of provision on each site, however the Ministerial Statement now sets 
the threshold at 10 dwellings. This policy also requires that affordable housing
should generally be provided on site and should be fully integrated within the
market housing. It should be of a type and size that meets the needs of those
eligible for affordable housing. The supporting text to this policy also states 
that the Council will seek a 75% social rented 25% shared ownership tenure 
split unless viability or other figures show a robust justification for a different 
mix or rent model.

7.35 The development would deliver 8 new affordable homes which equate to 40% 
of affordable housing on the site which accords with policy CSH3 of the 
SOCS. In terms of tenure, the mix would comprise 4 x 2 bed and 2 x 3 bed 
affordable rent and 2 x 2 bed shared ownership units which is in accordance 
with the policy requirements of a 75%/ 25% tenure split. 

7.36 Following advice by Officers regarding clustering, amended plans now 
demonstrate that the affordable units can be dispersed across the site. I am 
therefore satisfied that affordable housing would meet the required standards 
and would be of a size and type which meets the requirements of those in 
housing need. The appropriate mix will be secured under planning condition 
and S106 legal agreement. 

Highways-Access and parking arrangements.

7.37 The development proposes vehicular access from Manor Road in accordance 
with GNP policy 07 (2). The design and location of the access point and road 

Page 59



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

has been approved by the County Highways Engineer in consultation with the 
Council’s Forestry Officer.
  

7.38 In accordance with GNP policy 07 (3), a new pedestrian and cycle access is 
also proposed from Elmcroft. No objections have been raised by the 
Highways Officer regarding the proposed design of this route. 

7.39 The development proposes on plot parking for each dwelling. As this 
application is only outline in nature, a further application would have to set out 
the details of all parking spaces on site for occupants of the dwellings and 
their visitors. However, I am satisfied that there is sufficient space on site to 
accommodate a level of parking that would accord with the relevant 
development plan policies.  

7.40 In my opinion the proposal would comply with the relevant Development Plan 
policies. This includes policy CSM1 of the SOCS, policies D2 and T1 of the 
SOLP and policy 07 (9) and policy 19 of the GNP, which encourage and 
support the use of sustainable transport modes, adequate parking provision 
and provide for a safe and convenient access to the highway network. 
Conditions recommended in respect of the access, vision splays, turning 
areas, drainage, and the need for a Travel Information Pack will be imposed. 

Drainage/Impact on public water supply.

7.41 Following initial concerns expressed from the Councils Drainage Officer, 
further evidence and information was submitted. A revised FRA was 
submitted along with drainage statement to accompany the proposed 
drainage strategy. In addition, groundwater monitoring was undertaken in 
February 2020 to demonstrate that the drainage strategy would not affect 
groundwater.  It is proposed that foul water is proposed to be disposed of via 
main sewer and surface water will be disposed via sustainable drainage 
system.  

7.42 The Council’s Drainage Officer has confirmed that he is content that the 
surface water drainage scheme is appropriate for the proposed development, 
subject to conditions requiring: a detailed surface water drainage scheme to 
be submitted based on the approved Flood Risk Assessment; a detailed foul 
water drainage scheme; and detailed strategy and programme for 
groundwater monitoring. It is therefore considered that the development 
would be in accordance with policies EP6 and EP7 of the SOLP and policy 07 
(7) and 07 (8) of the GNP.

7.43 Thames Water have been consulted on the proposal and are satisfied that if 
the developer follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water 
they would have no objection. No objections are raised with regard to the 
waste water network and sewage treatment work infrastructure capacity. No 
objections are raised regarding water network infrastructure capacity. The 
scheme is in accordance with GNP policy 07 (13

Page 60



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

7.44 Thames Water have recommended that a number of informative’s be 
imposed regarding: water pressure, groundwater risk management and 
provide advice on working in proximity to water mains and underground 
assets.  Thames Water have also confirmed that they are satisfied that local 
strategy groundwater abstraction would be suitably protected provided the 
development is undertaken in accordance with the amended plans. 
Construction management plans should also detail how the developer plans 
to mitigate groundwater risk during construction of the development. 

Design, layout and density.

7.45 Policy CSQ3 of the SOCS requires development to be of high quality and
inclusive design which responds positively to and respects the character of 
the site and its surroundings, enhancing local distinctiveness and ensuring
development is of a scale, type and density appropriate to the site and setting.

7.46 Policy D1 of the SOLP indicates that development should be well designed 
with protection and reinforcement of local distinctiveness.

7.47 GNP policy 07 (10) requires that the design of new buildings should conform 
with the provisions of SODC's Design Guide and also the Chilterns Buildings 
Design Guide to ensure that dwellings will be sympathetically designed and fit 
in with the local area. Buildings should be no higher than 2 storeys, with 
rooms in the roof if appropriate. 

7.48 As the application is outline, details of the design will be left for the reserved 
matters application. However, the proposal indicates that materials are likely 
to be a mix of bricks with tile hanging, clay tile roofs and UPVC windows.

7.49 Due to concerns raised by the Landscape Officer regarding the impact on the 
AONB, it is recommended that additional work will need to be undertaken to 
the scheme prior to a reserved matters application being submitted which 
varies the ridge lines such as the use of some 1.5 storey properties,  
particularly on the southern boundary to soften the rural edge. This mitigation 
can be secured by planning condition.   

7.50 Hard surfacing will be permeable block paving. External lighting will be 
designed to mitigate light pollution to avoid impact on residents and wildlife, 
including the avoidance of white and ultra-violet light. A condition will be 
imposed to require these details to be submitted prior to commencement of 
development. 

7.51 Policy CSH2 of the SOCS states that “on sites where housing is acceptable in 
principle, a minimum density of 25 dwellings per hectare (net) will be required 
unless this would have an adverse effect on the character of the area.  The 
emerging Local Plan requires “the efficient use of land, with densities of at 
least 30 dwellings per hectare ” but also states that this should take local 
circumstances into account, including local character. 

Page 61



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

7.52 Clearly there are several constraints on the site including flood risk, which 
reduces the amount of land that can be developed.  The GNP acknowledges 
that given the AONB, housing density needs to be appropriate and policy 16 
requires all new development to respond positively in respect of density.

7.53 The development proposes 20 dwellings across 2.24ha in accordance with 
the site allocation. This would result in approximately 9 dwellings per hectare 
(similar to the density in Elmcroft adjacent). However, taking into account the 
developable area, the application states that the density will be 17 dwellings 
per hectare over an approximate developable area of 1.2ha. The GNP 
indicates that densities lower than 30 dwellings per hectare would be 
supported on the periphery of the village.  

7.54 It is considered that the proposed density is sensitive to the constraints in the 
immediate area and therefore consistent with the GNP policy regarding 
density and the requirements of policy CSH2 of the SOCS.

7.55 The Crime Prevention Officer has provided useful comments on the layout 
and confirmed that the amended layout has addressed their major concern 
relating to the footpath to Elmcroft. In accordance with policy D6 of the SOLP, 
it is recommended that a condition be imposed for any future applications to 
incorporate secured by design principles. 

Impact on Ecology/Biodiversity.

7.56 The outline application is supported by an ecological survey report 
which includes the results of previous ecological surveys on site, conducted in 
2016 and also outline recommendations for biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement. Whilst concerns have been raised locally regarding the impact 
of the development on wildlife, the surveys concluded that the habitats on site 
are not considered to be a constraint to development, comprising of improved 
grassland and ruderal/scrub boundary vegetation.

7.57 On this basis officers are satisfied that at this outline stage, with layout and 
landscaping remaining reserved matters, that the proposed development can 
achieve compliance with policies C6 and C8 of the SOLP, Policy CSB1 of the 
SOCS, Policy 07 (11) and (12) of the GNP and paragraph 170 of the NPPF 
subject to conditions regarding the submission of the following details as part 
of the RM application:

 Detailed biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy (BMES)
 Updated ecological surveys as necessary (particularly badger 

surveys);
 A biodiversity impact calculator assessment which demonstrates that 

the development will achieve a no net-loss of biodiversity on site as a 
minimum;

 Details of working methods to minimise impacts on biodiversity during 
the construction phase;

 Details of habitat creation on site including methods to successfully
establish the target habitats and a scheme of ongoing maintenance 
(cross referencing landscaping plans);

Page 62



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

 Details of species enhancements on site including the provision of bird
boxes, bat boxes, reptile refugia and 1 barn owl box.

Impact on Trees-Tree Protection, main access, drainage and emergency 
access.

7.58 Many of the trees located within this site are protected by a tree preservation
order (TPO), having significant amenity value and make an important
contribution to the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) landscape. 
Two individual trees are proposed for removal - a horse chestnut (TPO, but of 
moderate quality) to allow for the site entrance along with a small group of 
self-seeded trees and a small common oak to allow for construction of the 
emergency access/footpath to the north. A group of three low category trees 
towards the south of the site are also proposed to be removed. No objections 
are raised to the removal of these trees and it is considered that the 
significant replacement planting proposed will mitigate against any loss. 

7.59 As a result of concerns raised by the Council’s tree officer, further information 
was submitted to demonstrate that the proposed access works at both the 
Manor Road access and also for the emergency access would not impact 
upon adjacent protected trees. The Forestry Officer is now satisfied that the 
works required in the root protection areas of these trees are unlikely to result 
in any long-term harm to these trees. Additional tree protection measures 
have also been agreed with the Council’s tree Officer.  

7.60 The additional details also showed the surface water drainage attenuation 
tanks and drainage run moved away from tree protection zones of T40 and 
G43, and an updated transport statement was produced to take into account 
the revised access proposals.

7.61 Assessment of the proposed impact of the development on trees has also 
been undertake in conjunction with the Council’s Drainage Officer and the 
County Highways Officer.  The Council’s Forestry Officer has confirmed that 
the latest plans and additional information have addressed all of the previous 
comments and therefore no objections are raised subject to conditions 
covering: Tree Protection Measures, details of proposed drainage/utilities, 
detailed timings for arboricultural supervision for works within the root 
protection areas of trees to be retained, landscaping details and landscape 
management plan. The details provided meet the requirements of GNP policy 
07 (12).

7.62 A reserved matters application will detail landscaping proposals and would 
need to provide substantial tree planting to help enhance and soften the 
development including mitigation. Subject to the future agreement of these 
details, I consider that the development would accord with policies CSEN1 of 
the SOCS and Policy C9 of the SOLP, which seek to resist the loss of 
important landscape features and require measures to integrate development 
into the landscape.

Page 63



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

Archaeology.

7.63 The application site lies within an area of archaeological interest located 
550m NW of the site of a Roman Villa. Excavations have discovered some 
items of interest including a Roman coin has been recovered from 280m north 
east of the site. The site is also located to the north of an area of multi period 
settlement and ritual site identified from aerial photographs and excavation. 
 

7.64 Given the archaeological interest in the immediate area and in accordance 
with policy 07 (14) of the GNP and CON 11,12 and 13 of the SOLP , the 
County Archaeologist has recommended that a programme of archaeological 
investigation will be required ahead of any development on the site.  This 
would be secured through an appropriately worded planning conditions 
requiring a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI), a staged programme of 
archaeological evaluation and mitigation and a full report summarising all 
findings.  

Residential amenity/Privacy.

7.65 Policy D3 of the SOLP requires a private outdoor garden or amenity space or 
a shared amenity area to be provided for all new dwellings. The amount of 
land to be used for the amenity space should be determined by the size of the
dwelling proposed, by the character of surrounding development and by plot
coverage standards. Private outdoor sitting areas should not be overlooked 
by adjacent outdoor sitting areas, living/dining rooms or kitchens.

7.66 Policy D4 of the SOLP requires all new dwellings to be designed and laid out
so as to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the occupiers. 
Development will not be permitted if it would unacceptably harm the amenities 
of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight. Loss 
of a view is not a material consideration. 

7.67 As the application is in outline, the position and scale of the proposed homes 
is not fixed. The layout of the proposed development may change at reserved 
matters stage and the impact on neighbouring properties will be carefully 
assessed under any future application. However, the illustrative layout 
indicates that the back to back distances between houses and the proposed 
garden sizes are greater than minimum standards. Based on this indicative 
layout, the distance to neighbouring properties, and the intervening screening, 
I believe the development could be achieved without any adverse impacts on 
neighbours in terms of light, outlook and privacy. This would accord with 
policy D4 of the SOLP, which requires new development to secure an 
appropriate level of privacy for existing residents. I am also of the view that 
based on the indicative plans, a suitable layout could be achieved that would 
provide an appropriate level of outdoor space for future residents. 

7.68 Concern has been expressed regarding loss of privacy for properties on 
Elmcroft, whose gardens do not currently benefit from any formal screening 
allowing views onto the application site. The illustrative masterplan for the site 
proposes new tree and boundary planting along the northern boundary of the 

Page 64



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

site. No enclosure details are proposed at this stage however details will be 
secured under planning condition. 
 
Waste Management. 

7.69 The proposed layout takes into account the requirements of policy D10 of the 
SOLP in respect of waste management. Details on the construction of access 
road in respect of waste collection vehicles and tracking details can be 
secured via planning condition. 

Energy Efficiency.

7.70 In accordance with the requirements of policy CSQ2, as the application is only 
in outline at this stage, a planning condition will be imposed to secure 
sustainable measures at reserved matters stage.

Environmental Matters (air quality, contamination and noise).

7.71 No objections are raised in terms of air quality impact and conditions are 
recommended regarding air quality mitigation measures. 

7.72 Other environmental protection matters, such as noise, dust and the impact of 
lighting can also be addressed through the use of suitably wording conditions

Other Matters. 

7.73 Concern has been expressed locally that this application site should not be 
developed as there are alternative sites available, namely Reserve Site GNP8 
Gatehampton Road, which was put forward in the event that the allocated 
sites do not produce approximately 94 new dwellings.  This allocation 
provides for between 10-16 new dwellings. Whilst still in the AONB, it is 
situated in Flood Zone 1. This is a greenfield site which the plan indicates “ 
has the disadvantage of being visible from significant parts of the rural AONB 
and is inadequately screened at present. It would also reduce the gap 
between Goring village and Gatehampton. It is not as good a site for 
development as the four allocated sites” . 

7.74 As explained above, the GNP allocates four sites for development, with a fifth 
site held in reserve. The plan (and the allocations) have been through 
extensive consultation with the community and various consultants covering 
landscape and visual impact, flood risk assessment and biodiversity and 
ecology, sustainability appraisal. 

7.75 In the Examiners assessment of the GNP he noted that the total effects of 
site-specific constraints (the Chilterns AONB and Flood Zones 2 and 3) 
introduced by the draft NDP when read with existing constraints should not 
prevent the achievement of sustainable development. The Examiner 
expressed that he was satisfied that the selection of the four sites was 
appropriate and that they should remain in the plan. It was acknowledged that 
GNP3 (the application site) would be able to provide some housing in Flood 

Page 65



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

Zone 1 and with proposed re-contouring, may still be able to deliver 20 new 
dwellings. However, as the Examiner was unable to conclude with confidence 
either that it would be likely to provide 20 dwellings or that it is unlikely, it 
followed that the NDP should make provision for it not being able to do so.  
The Examiner recognised that the reserve site (GNP8) does have its 
problems (visual impact on the AONB and Chiltern Way) and for this reason, 
did not recommend its addition as a site on which new housing should 
definitely be built. However, it was agreed to be the most appropriate site to 
be held in reserve for both general and affordable housing in case the four 
selected sites do not result in the needed level of provision.    

7.76 It is not for this application to consider the merits of other sites or applications. 
This is an allocated site which has been subject to detailed flood risk and 
drainage assessments and as a result, it is concluded that 20 dwellings could 
be built on Flood Zone 1 levels without adverse impact upon the surrounding 
area. 

Infrastructure Requirements.

On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement.

7.77 On-site infrastructure can be secured through a legal agreement under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). If the 
application progressed positively, on-site infrastructure could be secured 
through a S106 agreement. This would include the affordable housing and the 
long-term maintenance and management of the open space. The size and 
quality of these on-site facilities would accord with policies R2 and R6 of the 
SOLP. In addition, it may also be necessary to be supplementary provisions 
regarding flood infrastructure maintenance.
 

7.78 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary 
Planning Document, financial contributions would also be required towards 
the following on-site infrastructure (all contributions to be index-linked):

-Provision of recycling/refuse bins-£186 per property (indicatively £3,720)
-Street naming and numbering-£229 per 10 dwellings (indicatively £458)
-Provision of public art- £306 per dwelling (indicatively £6,120)
-S106 monitoring fee £628.
-Affordable housing administration/monitoring fee-£61

7.79 The County Council have also requested that the following contributions be 
secured:

-£86,651 (index linked) towards expansion of secondary and sixth form 
capacity at Langtree School

7.80 The proposed development is served by Langtree School for secondary 
provision, which is currently oversubscribed. This school has a permanent 
capacity of 591 places, and as of May 2019 there were 592 pupils on roll. The 
school also admitted over its Published Admission Number (PAN) of 120 for 

Page 66



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

the September 2019 Year 7 intake.  Forecasts indicate that there will be a 
continued shortage of places at the school in the future, unless additional 
capacity is provided. The school would thus be unable to accommodate the 
expected increase in demand from housing growth in the area, including from 
this application. The proposed development would therefore be expected to 
contribute proportionally towards the cost of the expansion of secondary 
education provision that would be necessary to meet its needs

• s.278 Agreement would be required to secure all off-site access and 
highway mitigation/improvement works. 

• s.38 Agreement would be required for the adoption of new roads. 

7.81 The developer has agreed to these heads of terms. I consider that these 
contributions / obligations accord with policy CSI1 of the SOCS, which 
requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site 
infrastructure and services. They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF 
as they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, are directly related to the development and are fair and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development. They are further justified 
through policies D10 (waste) and D12 (public art) of the SOLP.

Community Infrastructure Levy.

7.82 The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in 2016. With the
exception of the affordable housing, any additional floor space is CIL liable at 
a rate of £150 per sq.m (index linked and currently £182.18 per sq, m). The 
money collected can be pooled with contributions (either S106 or CIL) from 
other development sites to fund a wide range of off-site infrastructure to 
support growth, including schools, transport, community, leisure and health 
facilities.

7.83 Goring Parish Council would receive 25 percent of the CIL because they have 
a made Neighbourhood Plan. CIL money is to be spent on infrastructure 
projects that can benefit the community.

8.0 CONCLUSION
8.1 It is recommended that planning permission is granted for the development as 

the site is allocated for housing in the Goring Neighbourhood Plan and would 
provide significant benefits in terms of providing additional housing, including 
affordable housing. The proposal complies with the Development Plan 
policies and subject to the attached conditions would provide an appropriate 
form of development, given the constraints within the site. 

Page 67



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

9.0 RECOMMENDATION
9.1 To authorise the head of planning to grant planning permission subject 

to: 

i) the prior completion of a Section 106 agreement with 
Oxfordshire County Council and the District Council to secure 
the affordable housing, financial contributions and other 
obligations stated above, and

ii) the following conditions:

1. Approved Plans
2. Approval of reserved matters-appearance, landscaping, layout 

and scale, timescale for submission 
3. Approved access provided prior to occupation/new vehicle 

access
4. Floodplain compensation scheme based on the principles 

contained in the FRA.
5. Housing mix in general accordance with SHMA
6. Housing Space standards
7. Ridge heights - RM to include varied ridge lines including the use 

of some 1.5 storey units 
8. Surface Water Drainage scheme including sustainable features
9. Foul water drainage scheme
10.Groundwater monitoring strategy and programme.
11.Safe egress and access plan to be submitted
12.New vehicle access
13.Vision splay details 
14.Estate Accesses, Driveways and Turning Areas 
15.Construction Traffic Management Plan
16.No Surface Water Drainage to Highway
17.Tree protection measures as agreed
18.Tree protection measures-drainage and utilities
19.Tree Protection Measures-schedule of works/timings
20.Landscaping scheme-trees and shrubs including additional 

mitigation measures as set out in paragraphs 7.28 and 7.29 of this 
report

21.Landscape Management Plan
22.Boundary treatment.
23.Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy
24.Air quality mitigation: EV charging points; gas fired boilers 

standards.
25.Secure cycle parking details  
26.Construction hours
27.Control of construction dust
28.Lighting details
29.Sustainable Travel Information Pack
30.Waste management tracking plan 
31.Archaeological written scheme of investigation
32.Staged programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation

Page 68



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 4 November 2020

33.Archaeology-Full report summarising works found and evaluated.
34.Secure by Design Measures

Author: Amanda Rendell
Contact no: 01491 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 69

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



06/10/2020 GIS Print

savvvsparc03clo.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/intranet/jointgis/1.70/asp/print.asp?class=A4Portrait&imageurl=http://savvvsparc03clo.capitacou… 1/1

Page 71

Agenda Item 8P19/S2923/O

SAV_RendellA
Typewriter
Appendix A-Application site.



06/10/2020 GIS Print

savvvsparc03clo.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/intranet/jointgis/1.70/asp/print.asp?class=A4Portrait&imageurl=http://savvvsparc03clo.capitacou… 1/1

Page 72

SAV_RendellA_1
Typewriter
Appendix B-Wider Area



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 73

SAV_RendellA_2
Typewriter
Appendix C- GNP Policy 07 (page 1/2)



 

 

 

P
age 74

SAV_RendellA_3
Typewriter
Appendix C- GNP Policy 07 (page 2/2)



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

APPLICATION NO. P20/S0912/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 12.3.2020
PARISH WALLINGFORD
WARD MEMBER(S) Sue Roberts

George Levy
APPLICANT Mrs K Lilly
SITE Land opposite Whitecross House Reading Road 

Wallingford, OX10 9ED
PROPOSAL Erection of a single dwelling and associated works 

including new access onto Wallingford Road.(as 
amended by plan refs 3043-301 A, 3043-302 A, 
3043-304 A, 3043-312 A, 3043-307 A, 3043-305 A 
and 3043-305 A received on 6 August 2020).

OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application has been referred to Planning Committee at the request of Councillor 

Sue Roberts on the grounds that it constitutes overdevelopment and would result in 
the loss of a natural habitat. I recommend that planning permission is granted for the 
development proposed. This report sets out the reasoning for my recommendations 
taking into account all the material planning considerations.

1.2 The site lies outside any area of restraint. White Cross House lies to the east of the 
site which is a grade II listed building. 

1.3 In its amended form, this application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 
a two-bedroom, three storey dwelling in a contemporary style on land opposite 
Whitecross House, Reading Road.

1.4 The application was subject to a pre-application advice request under reference 
P19/S2687/PEM.

1.5 The site is located towards the southern edge of Wallingford approximately 1km from 
the town centre. The land is part of a triangle contained by Winterbrook to the south 
east and Wallingford Road to the north west. To the south west, a large care home is 
under construction. A site location plan is attached as Appendix 1.

1.6 The site is some 0.13 hectares in size. It contains dense vegetation around the 
perimeter and a number of mature trees some of which are protected by a tree 
preservation order. 

1.7 The proposed new dwelling has been designed to take account of the site constraints, 
particularly the trees. This has dictated the built form by reducing the ground floor 
footprint of the building so that it covers a very small area. The ground floor contains 
the house entrance and hallway only and is positioned away from any principal tree 
roots. 

1.8 The first and second floors of the building extend beyond the ground floor footprint in 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S0912/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

a cantilever to accommodate the main living accommodation; including the 
kitchen/dining area and two bedrooms/bathrooms at first floor. The second floor 
contains a smaller mezzanine living area. The proposal would have a green roof. 

1.9 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Wallingford Town Council – Original plans – Members of Wallingford Town 

Council’s planning committee wish to submit that they fully support this planning 
application.

Amended plans -Wallingford Town Council have no objections but have the following 
conditions: Archaeological brief with no infill on ground floor. Consideration to be given 
to neighbouring properties with regards to light spill and overlooking.

Drainage – No objection subject to conditions being attached to any planning 
permission requiring details of foul and surface water drainage to be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

Forestry Officer – Original plans No objection -There are trees within the site that are 
subject to a tree preservation order (TPO) and make an important contribution to the 
landscape. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has submitted with this application. I 
have no objections to the proposed development subject to tree protection and 
landscaping conditions being attached. The tree protection condition to ensure the 
satisfactory protection of retained trees including those protected by TPO and the 
landscaping condition to ensure that trees are planted to mitigate the loss of those 
proposed to be removed and to help to screen and soften the proposed development 
when viewed from outside of the site.

Amended plans – No further comments.

OCC Highways Liaison Officer – No objection subject to conditions relating to new 
vehicular access, vision splay protection and parking and manoeuvring areas to be 
retained. 

Conservation officer - No objection. I do not consider the quality of the setting of 
Whitecross House is significant enough to resist the proposals outlined due to 
cumulative and negative changes to its historic setting. The creation of the bypass and 
care home to the south west have reduced the quality of the historic rural setting. I 
consider the harm to the setting of the listed building is negligible. 

Waste Management Officer – No objection 

Countryside Officer – No objection – this application is supported by a preliminary 
ecological appraisal (PEA). The PEA has concluded that the habitats on site are not 
considered to be priority habitats, and that protected species are unlikely to be 
impacted by the development. External lighting should be restricted. It is considered 
that subject to the suitable management of the retained trees, additional landscape 
planting and the provision of biodiversity enhancements on site, the development can 
avoid a net loss of biodiversity. 

Wallingford Historical and Archaeological society (TWHAS) any development on 
this site should be subject to a programme of archaeological investigation and scrutiny 

Page 76



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

in consultation with the Oxfordshire Planning Archaeologist.

Neighbour Objections (5)
Original plans 

 Elevated height of the property which will look into parts of our land and allow 
direct viewing of our main bathroom and bedrooms invading our privacy.

 The trees are natural habitats for nesting crows and other birds and the trees 
and natural life also provide a barrier to the sound of the gravel pit. Removing 
this will potentially impact on the value of the area.

 Design is not in keeping with the village feel and character of Winterbroook.
 Inappropriate design adjacent to a listed building – Whitecross House
 Loss of trees in order to build the scheme
 Light pollution
 Proposed access is directly opposite an existing drive and parking bay
 No planning notice visible
 Nearest and most affected properties have not been notified
 Invasion of privacy
 Our property is single storey and new dwelling would have 3 storeys with floor to 

ceiling windows, balconies and roof garden
 Loss of trees and wildlife
 Single dwelling will have impact on so many people
 Is the dwelling necessary at a time when so many new dwellings are being 

built?
 We do not know how the Town Council can fully support an application without 

having listened to the views of its constituents whom it is employed to represent
 The still being constructed care home application went to great lengths to 

ensure that the design and look and feel of the building complimented the local 
architecture and over time would blend in – this wouldn’t.

 The amount of glazing will result in light and noise pollution 
 Dangerous access
 The Reading Road is an important entrance into the town. Its leafy and rural 

character is important introduction to the whole town. 

Amended plans- objections (3)
 Nothing in amended plans to address our original concerns 
 Whilst the green roof is not intended as a balcony, could it still be used as one 

or turned into one by the occupiers post-construction?
 Inconsistency between images showing trees still in place, others show them 

replaced by low-level hedging
 If we are to believe that the building materials would reflect the surrounding 

trees, the trees must remain in place
 The felling of any trees should not exceed that which is minimal to create a 

driveway of a single car’s width

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P19/S2687/PEM -  Response (01/11/2019)

Erection of a single dwelling and works there to.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 N/A

Page 77

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2687/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies:
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1 Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSWAL1  -  The Strategy for Wallingford

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) Policies:
C6 – Enhance biodiversity
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing on sites within the built up areas of towns and villages
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan 2034 Policies 
The council is currently progressing the emerging local plan through the examination 
stage. Following recent examination hearings, the Planning Inspector has now asked 
South Oxfordshire District Council to prepare a ‘Schedule of Proposed Main 
Modifications’ to the plan. The schedule reflects the modifications, or changes, that the 
Inspector considers necessary to make the plan sound before it can move to the 
adoption stage. These are the only significant changes that can be made to the plan 
now. Consultation runs until 2 November 2020. As such, the plan currently carries 
limited weight. Relevant policies include;
DES1E  -  Delivering high quality development
DES2E  -  Enhancing local character
DES3E  -  Design and Access Statements
H1E  -  Delivering new homes
H3E  -  Housing the towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford
STRAT1E  -  The overall strategy
WAL1E  -  The strategy for Wallingford

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan- Wallingford Neighbourhood Plan
The publicity period on the draft plan concluded on 11 August 2020. The draft plan 
documents and comments from the publicity period have  been submitted for 
independent examination.

Mr Andrew Ashcroft has been appointed by the district council to carry out the 
examination. The examiner’s role is to make recommendations on the draft plan, and 
ultimately if the plan should proceed to referendum. The independent examiner has 
now a clarification note which asked for clarification on a number of points by 23 
October 2020. The plan currently carries limited weight. Relevant policies include;

WS1 Strategy for Wallingford
WS2 The land allocation for housing in Wallingford
WS4 Development within the built-up area
HD1 Design

Page 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

HD2 Sustainable design
HD4 Self build
HA2 Effects of Development on Historic and Heritage Assets
MC3 Promotion of cycling
MC5 Vehicle parking

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Principle of development 
 Policy H4 criteria
 Impact on neighbour amenity 
 Access and Parking
 Garden size
 Impact on trees and landscaping
 Ecology
 Heritage
 Drainage
 CIL
 Other issues 

6.2 Principle of residential development 
Section 36 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission to be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.3 Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the applications, and to any other material considerations. In the case of 
this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the South 
Oxfordshire Core strategy, which was adopted in 2012, the saved policies of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP). The policies of the emerging South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan and emerging Wallingford Neighbourhood Plan currently carry limited 
weight. 

6.4 The spatial strategy in the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy Policy CSS1 establishes a 
settlement hierarchy where the amount and location of new housing is related to the 
availability of facilities and services in order to achieve a sustainable pattern of 
development. Major new development is focused in Didcot so the town can play an 
enhanced role in providing homes, jobs and services with improved transport 
connectivity to the surrounding towns and villages.

Page 79



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

Policy CSWAL1 of the SOCS allows for housing in Wallingford on suitable infill and 
redevelopment sites. The site is located within the built up limits of Wallingford on a site 
which is closely surrounded by development. As such the proposal is considered to be 
an infill site. 

Having established that the principle of residential development is acceptable on this 
site, it is necessary to look at the development in relation to policy H4 of the SOLP.

6.5 Saved Local Plan policy H4 supports development within the main towns subject to a 
list of criteria. Those criteria which are relevant to this proposal are discussed in detail 
below.

(i) an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not
lost, nor an important public view spoilt;
(ii) the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in
keeping with its surroundings;
(iii) the character of the area is not adversely affected;
(iv) there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; and
(v) if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create
problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the
settlement.

6.6 (i) The site contains dense vegetation with some trees covered by a tree protection 
order. It is not an important open space. The council’s ecologist has considered the 
proposal and his comments are listed in paragraph 2.1 above and ecology is explored 
in further detail in paragraph 6.11. The development would retain many of the mature 
trees on the site. The glazing and reflective panelling used in its construction would 
create a “tree house” within an area of mature trees. As such an important public view 
would not be spoilt.

(ii) Surrounding built form is generally detached dwellings set in generous plots of 
varying size and styles. There are also some bungalows including Sixpenny Buckle 
which is located opposite the site. The site’s unique character has inspired the design 
of the new dwelling. The Design and Access Statement accompanying the application 
states that “ the scheme has evolved as a response to consider how the marriage of 
architecture and landscape can be successfully integrated in the sense that constraints 
become opportunities to create a more intrinsic and respectful design solution. The 
approach has evolved from this. The concept is simply to create a “Tree House” rather 
than create a clearing and locating a building form at ground level, our response is to 
create a raised dwelling set within the tree canopies. By raising the building above the 
ground, its impact is minimized and instead, the scheme integrates more succinctly with 
the tree canopies above. “ I am of the opinion that the proposed new dwelling is in 
keeping with the characteristics of the site. 

(iii) There is a variety of house types and styles in this part of Winterbrook, mainly of 
traditional vernacular but with little uniformity. The design of the proposed new dwelling 
is very contemporary which has evolved taking account of the characteristics of the site 
with its dense vegetation. This does not, however, make the contrast harmful in my 
opinion. The proposal represents a high-quality development which responds well to its 
setting.  This is encouraged by local and national policy and the South Oxfordshire 
Design Guide. The reflective cladding will mirror the trees and help integrate the 
dwelling into its surroundings. Concerns have been raised in relation to its height. 
Whilst it has three storeys, it has a flat roof design and will be read against the 
backdrop of the very large care home which is being built on the land immediately south 
of the application site. The dwelling will be sited within a heavily treed site which will be 

Page 80



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

reflected in the external cladding integrating the dwelling into the site still further. It will 
be well screened from public views.

(iv) Impact on neighbours and highway issues together with amenity space are 
explored in their respective paragraphs below.

(v) The proposal does not constitute backland development.

6.7 Impact on neighbour amenity 
In response to concerns raised by your officers, the Local Member and immediate 
neighbours, the following revisions to the scheme have been made:

 Removal of glazed areas on the north west and north east corner of the building 
at first and second floor level and replacement with solid cladding but with a 
reflective finish.

 Removal of the balcony platform at first floor level on the north west and north 
east corner of the building, and replacement with a brise soleil to ensure the 
area can not be accessed, whilst providing shading to the lower floor.

 Confirmation that the second-floor area forms part of the building’s green roof 
not a balcony.

Whilst there may appear to be large areas of glazing with the potential for overlooking, 
much of these are in fact walls clad with glazed panels to maintain the consistency with 
actual glazed areas but are solid construction behind to ensure privacy and to reduce 
light spillage.

Reference has also been made by some neighbours to light pollution. Whilst the 
proposal does include some larger areas of glazing, there would still be a high 
proportion of opaque reflective cladding which would not spill light from within the 
property. Given the tree cover and relatively modest scale of the building, it is not 
considered that the impact from internal light spillage would be any greater than that of 
much larger surrounding buildings. With these changes, it is my opinion that the privacy 
of the neighbouring properties is protected. There are three properties which are 
closest to the site. These are Sixpenny Buckle, Whitecross House and 24 Wallingford 
Road.

Sixpenny Buckle – this property is a bungalow which lies to the north of the application 
site. It is orientated so that it has bedroom and kitchen windows facing the site and also 
has its main amenity space to the west and south of the property. A distance of some 
38 metres (minimum) would exist between the nearest part of Sixpenny Buckle and the 
nearest part of the new dwelling. A road would also separate these two properties. The 
SODG advises that window to window distances should be no less than 25m (back to 
back – front to front and side to front relationships are less) between properties. As 
such, this distance well exceeds this distance. 

In its amended form, the removal of glazed areas on the north east and north west 
corners of the building together with the removal of balcony platforms in these corners 
will substantially reduce any overlooking from the development towards Sixpenny 
Buckle in my opinion. A condition is recommended which would prevent the use of the 
green roof or any other platform from being used as a balcony. As such, I am satisfied 
that the proposed development would not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity 
of the occupiers of this property.

24 Wallingford Road – this is a two-storey dwelling which lies to the north/north west 
of the application site. The amendments referred to in the previous paragraph equally 

Page 81



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

apply here. There would be a distance of some 42 metres between the 2 properties and 
this dwelling would be at an oblique angle to the proposed new dwelling. As such the 
impact on the amenity of occupiers of this property would not be unacceptable in my 
opinion

Whitecross House -This two-storey listed property lies some 43 meters to the south 
east of the site. The rear of the new dwelling would face the front of Whitecross House 
across the Wallingford Road. There will be glazed areas at first and second floor facing 
this property. Given the distances between the two properties, however, the generous 
amount of trees which will help to screen the new building and the fact that the new 
dwelling will face the front of Whitecross House rather than any private rear garden, it is 
my opinion that the proposal will not be unacceptably harmful in relation to amenity.  

6.8 Access and parking 
Policies T1 and T2 of the SOLP seek to ensure that any new development has safe 
access onto the highway network and has sufficient off-street parking. The proposed 
dwelling would have 2 bedrooms. The council’s parking requirements for a 2-bed 
dwelling are 2 off-street parking spaces. These are proposed within the site. Although 
the access is proposed opposite an existing access, the Highway Authority do not 
consider this to increase the risk to highway safety as the vision between accesses are 
considered sufficient. Given the characteristics of the carriageway, vehicular traffic and 
speeds which are considered to be relatively low, the proposal is unlikely to have a 
significant adverse impact on the highway network.

Two trees are required to be removed to provide the necessary visibility. The county 
highway authority has not objected to the proposal subject to conditions relating to 
visibility, parking and turning and manoeuvrability within the site.  

6.9 Garden size
Policy D3 of the SOLP requires that a private outdoor garden or amenity space should 
be provided or all new dwellings. The amount of land to be used for garden or amenity 
space will be determined by the size of the dwelling proposed. This policy and the 
SODG seek to ensure that reasonable standards of private amenity space are provided 
in new developments. A 2 -bed dwelling should have a garden size of some 50 sqm. 
The submitted plans demonstrate that an amenity space well in excess of 50sqm would 
be provided – some 600 sqm. As such the proposal provides adequate amenity space.

6.10  Trees 
Policy C9 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that new development does not result in the 
loss of important landscape features.

A tree survey has been submitted with the application. The site has a number of trees, 
most of which have been categorised as low or poor quality in accordance with BS 
5837-2010. There are, however, a number of specimens noted of medium quality and 
these lie to the north east of the site as a grouping. Those trees which are intended to 
be removed are predominantly of poor or low quality.

The dwelling has been designed to ensure that the majority of the trees and all those 
covered by the TPO (which was served in October 2019 following the submission of the 
pre application advice request) are retained and therefore the character of the entrance 
to the town protected. Keeping the ground floor footprint small enables the property to 
integrate within the site without any significant loss of vegetation. In addition, some 
replacement planting around the edges of the site will further soften and screen the 
development from the surrounding area. 

Page 82



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

6.11 Ecology
Policy C6 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that the maintenance and enhancement of the 
biodiversity resource of the district will be sought in considering proposals for 
development.   Policy CSB1 of the SOCS seeks to ensure that a net loss of biodiversity 
is avoided and opportunities to achieve a net gain across the district will be actively 
sought.

A preliminary ecological appraisal (PCA) was submitted with the planning application 
which concluded that the proposal will not have any significant impact on biodiversity on 
the site given the limited loss of vegetation. Measures to compensate are 
recommended including some additional native planting and the inclusion of bat and 
bird boxes together with sympathetic lighting. Extensive green roofing will enhance the 
site’s ecological value and help provide greater biodiversity and natural habitat within 
the site.  The council’s ecologist has considered the PCA and has not raised any 
objection to the proposal subject to a condition requiring a biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement strategy should be submitted to and approved by the LPA in order to 
minimise the impacts of development on biodiversity. 

6.12 Heritage 
The application site is not in a conservation area. It lies opposite a grade II listed 
building which is White Cross House. 

The NPPF advises that proposals which preserve the setting of heritage assets should 
be treated favourably. Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to ensure that the setting of 
the district’s designated historic assets be conserved and enhanced. Policy CON5 of 
the SOLP advises that development which would adversely affect the setting of a listed 
building will be refused. 

The significance of White Cross House derives primarily from the special architectural 
and historic interest it possesses. Setting remains a secondary consideration and one 
that has been cumulatively eroded over time, changing from a largely rural experience 
to one of semi-urban or edge of settlement as reinforced by the intensification of road 
infrastructure nearby and the recently approved care home.

Setting makes a very small, secondary contribution to understanding the significance of 
Whitecross House today, with the proposal site playing only a very limited role, if any, 
within this. I consider the retention of mature trees on the proposal site and the 
predominantly evergreen vegetation to the front of Whitecross House would mitigate 
any impact imposed on the setting of Whitecross House either towards or from the 
application site.

Further to this I consider the high-quality design and materials proposed reflecting 
surrounding tree cover will sufficiently camouflage the building and mitigate any harm to 
the very glimpsed views experienced towards and from Whitecross House.

The supporting heritage statement provided by the agent is proportional for the impacts 
imposed on the significance of the setting of Whitecross House. 

6.13 Drainage
Policy EP6 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that developers demonstrate, where possible, 
that the surface water management system on any new development accords with 
sustainable drainage principles and has been designed as an integral part of the 
development layout. Policy EP7 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that if a proposed 
development would have an adverse effect upon groundwater resources, it should not 
be permitted unless effective preventative measures are taken to ensure that the quality 

Page 83



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020 

and quantity of these resources are maintained. 

The council’s drainage engineer has no objection to the proposal subject to details of 
foul and surface water drainage details being submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning authority prior to the commencement of development. 

6.14 CIL
The proposal is CIL liable. The necessary forms and information required at this stage 
of the process have been submitted

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the principle of a 

dwelling on this site is acceptable. The contemporary design of the proposal is 
considered to represent a high quality and sustainable development which will maintain 
the character of the site and will not appear prominent or out of keeping with the 
surrounding area. Amendments have been made to address concerns raised in relation 
to overlooking and loss of privacy. Subject to the suggested conditions the 
development accords with the Development Plan Policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions;

1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans 
3 : Materials as on plan
4 : New vehicular access 
5 : Vision splay protection 
6 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained 
7 : Landscaping Scheme (trees and shrubs only)
8 : Tree Protection (Detailed) (Amended NO dig Foundations)
9 : Surface water drainage works (details required)
10 : Foul drainage works (details required)
11 : Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy to be submitted
12 : External Lighting - General
13 : Restriction on Use of Roof as Balcony(F)

Author:          Kim Gould
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:           Planningsouthoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 84



Appendix 1

Page 85

Agenda Item 9P20/S0912/FUL

SAV_KIMGOU
Typewriter
The site



SOUTH ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATION EAST ELEVATION
0m 5m 10m 0m 5m 10m

0m 5m 10m 0m 5m 10m
NORTH ELEVATION

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date: Drawn By

Drawing No: Revision:

@ A1

A R C H I T E C T S

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322 F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489 F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

REVISIONS

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD

ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

Rev. Date Description

Checked

Client :

MRS K. LILLY

Job :

LAND OPPOSITE WHITE
CROSS HOUSE
WALLINGFORD RD
WINTERBROOK

ELEVATIONS
WITH TREES REMOVED

1:100

Mar 2020 JL SRJ

3043.312 A

PLANNING

Appendix 2

P
age 86



WIN
TERB
ROO

K

1:100

JAN 20        JL

3043.303

LAND OPPOSITE 
WHITE CROSS 
HOUSE 
WALLINGFORD RD 

PROPOSED
GROUND FLOOR
PLAN

MRS K. LILLY

PLANNING

APPROVED CARE 
HOME APLICATION
NO.P17/S3564/FUL
(ILLUSTRATIVE)

P
age 87



P
age 88



P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

APPLICATION NO. P20/S2746/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 13.8.2020
PARISH BRIGHTWELL CUM SOTWELL
WARD MEMBER(S) Anne-Marie Simpson

Jane Murphy
APPLICANT Vanessa East-Hardy
SITE The Byre Mackney Lane, Brightwell-Cum-Sotwell, 

OX10 0SQ
PROPOSAL Variation of condition 2 (approved drawings - 

change of internal layout with additional dormer 
window and velux windows in the roof) on 
application P20/S0149/FUL 

Demolition of two agricultural barns, erection of 
single dwelling house

OFFICER Paul Bowers

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application has been referred to Planning Committee at the discretion of the 

Planning Manager because the recommendation conflicts with the views of the Parish 
Council. This report sets out the officer’s recommendation of approval and how that 
has been reached with regard to the relevant material planning considerations and the 
development plan. 

1.2 The application site comprises an agricultural field with existing structures in the north 
eastern corner of the site. It is accessed via Mackney Lane and lies in an area of 
ribbon development between the hamlet of Mackney to the south and the core of 
Brightwell cum Sotwell village to the north. 

The site is not in a designated area and is in Flood Zone 1. To the north east of the 
site is the conservation area.

A plan identifying the location of the site can be found at Appendix 1.

1.3 There is an extensive recent planning history for development on this site including 
approvals for a conversion, a refused application and corresponding dismissed appeal 
for three dwellings on the site. The history culminates most recently with a permission 
for a single dwelling under application reference P20/S0149/FUL. The full history is 
detailed in section 3.1 of this report. The history also includes a non-material minor 
amendment application reference P20/S1964/NM which allowed for the reduction in 
the size of a front ground floor window and the installation of glazed door and sash 
window on the northern side elevation. 

The approved plans can be found at Appendix 2 . These include the original 
permitted scheme under application reference P20/S0149/FUL and the subsequent 
non material amendment P20/S1964/NM. 

1.4 This application is being made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act for the variation of condition 2, the approved plans condition, and seeks planning 
permission for the following changes to the approved development;

Page 91

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2746/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

- Additional dormer window and roof light on the rear elevation.
- Additional two roof lights on the front elevation.
- New door on the ground floor northern side elevation (already approved under 

P20/S1964/NM)
- Creation of a first-floor area and master bedroom and dressing room.

1.5 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix 
3 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s 
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Brightwell-cum-Sotwell Parish Council – Object to the development on the following 

grounds;
- The development has already commenced.
- The addition of a staircase will allow for the building to be divided in to two units 

rather than one.  

Drainage – No objection. 

OCC Highways Liaison Officer – No objection. 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P20/S1964/NM - Approved (02/07/2020)

Non material amendment to application ref. P20/S0149/FUL - reduction in size of front 
vaulted lounge window by 1 bay and installation of glazed door with sash to the north 
side elevation (in vaulted lounge).

Demolition of two agricultural barns, erection of single dwellinghouse

P20/S1423/DIS - Approved (21/05/2020)
Discharge of Conditions, 3 (Materials), 4 (Landscaping), 5 (Surface Water), 6 (Foul 
Water), 8 (Parking and turning areas) on P20/S0149/FUL.

Demolition of two agricultural barns, erection of a single dwelling house

P20/S0149/FUL - Approved (27/03/2020)
Demolition of two agricultural barns, erection of single dwelling house

P18/S3089/FUL - Withdrawn (15/01/2020)
Demolition of two agricultural barns and erection of two dwellings and ancillary access 
road and access off Mackney Lane (As amended by drawing showing amenity space 
accompanying e-mail from agent received 1 November 2018)

P18/S1279/FUL - Approved (20/07/2018)
Demolition of agricultural barn and erection of new dwelling and creation of residential 
curtilage. (As amended by drawing 20033018 Rev B increasing height of rooflights and 
amplified by letter from agent dated 25 May 2018 and amended by drawing 
1215/2341/1B received 1 July 2018 showing parking spaces).

P17/S3120/O - Refused (12/01/2018) - Appeal dismissed (01/07/2019)
Erection of three detached dwellinghouses (As amplified by Mode Transport Technical 
Note October 2017 accompanying agents letter dated 23 October 2017).

P17/S0343/O - Refused (23/03/2017)
Construction of four dwellings and access drive.

Page 92

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S1964/NM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S1423/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S0149/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3089/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1279/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S3120/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0343/O


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

P16/S3875/FUL - Approved (18/01/2017)
Conversion of an agricultural building to a single dwellinghouse and creation of 
domestic curtilage.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 N/A

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies:
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) Policies:
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

Brightwell cum Sotwell Neighbourhood Plan (BCSNDP) policies;
BCS1 – Brightwell cum Sotwell village boundary. 
BCS7 – Landscape character and the villages
BCS9- Design principles

5.2 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan 2034 Policies 
The council is currently progressing the emerging local plan through the examination 
stage. Following recent examination hearings, the Planning Inspector has now asked 
South Oxfordshire District Council to prepare a ‘Schedule of Proposed Main 
Modifications’ to the plan. The schedule reflects the modifications, or changes, that the 
Inspector considers necessary to make the plan sound before it can move to the 
adoption stage. These are the only significant changes that can be made to the plan 
now. Consultation runs until 2 November 2020. As such, the plan currently carries 
limited weight. 
Relevant policies include;
DES2E  -  Enhancing local character
DES5E  -  Outdoor amenity space
DES6E  -  Residential amenity

Page 93

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3875/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

ENV6E  -  Historic environment
ENV8E  -  Conservation areas
H16E  -  Infill development
TRANS5E  -  Consideration of development proposals

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 When assessing section 73 applications the Council can only consider the original

condition and the reasons for applying the condition; new conditions can be attached
but only in so far as they apply to the original condition. If the Council decides that
planning permission should be granted subject to differing proposed conditions,
planning permission should be granted. If permission is required to be granted subject
to the same conditions as those to which the previous permission was granted, they
should refuse the application

6.2 Paragraph 015 of NPPG notes where an application under section 73 is granted, the
effect is the issue of a new planning permission, sitting alongside the original
permission, which remains intact and un-amended. Furthermore, to assist with clarity
decision notices for the grant of planning permission under section 73 should also
repeat the relevant conditions from the original planning permission, unless they have
already been discharged. A section 73 application cannot be used to vary the time limit
for implementation, this condition must remain unchanged from the original permission.

6.3 It is not intended to go through all of the planning issues that were assessed in 
connection with the principle of development as that has been established through the 
grant of planning permission. 

The permission has been implemented and development commenced including the 
changes to the design the subject of this application. 

Given the context of the changes, the condition being varied and the reasons for 
applying them, it is only necessary to consider the impact of the changes on the 
character and appearance of the site and surrounding area and the impact on 
neighbouring properties and highway safety.

6.4 The main issues to consider in relation to this proposal are;

 Whether there has been any material change in site circumstances or 
planning policy in the intervening time between the grant of planning 
permission and now. 

 Impact of the changes to the building on the amenities of the occupants of 
nearby properties.

Page 94



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

 Impact of the changes to the buildings on the character and appearance of 
the area. 

 Impact on highway safety. 
 Conditions.
 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

6.5 Whether there has been any material change in site circumstances or planning 
policy in the intervening time between the grant of planning permission and now. 

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The polices contained within the Brightwell cum Sotwell Neighbourhood Plan, the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy remain relevant 
and have not changed since the determination of the original planning permission 
P17/S2367/FUL.

The South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034 is now at examination however it carries limited 
weight in decision making. 

Overall, however the proposed development continues to accord with the development 
in all its constituent parts.

6.6 Impact of the changes to the building on the amenities of the occupants of 
nearby properties.

Policy H4 and specifically criterion (iv) of the policy and also Policy D4 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) seek to protect the amenities of the occupants of 
nearby properties. 

Impact on residential amenity is normally considered in terms of whether a 
development results in material harm by way of overlooking, loss of sunlight or being so 
large and close that it is considered oppressive and overbearing. 

6.7 The size of the overall building is not being increased as a consequence of this 
application proposal. There is no increase in bulk and mass of the building, only the 
number of openings in terms of the roof lights and the provision of a dormer window. 
These have views in the same direction as existing approved windows and do not 
increase any level of overlooking of nearby properties.

I conclude that the changes are not unneighbourly in anyway and the development 
remains compliant with Policy H4 in this regard.

6.8 Impact of the changes to the buildings on the character and appearance of the 
area. 

Provision (ii) of Policy H4 states ‘the design, height, scale and materials of the 
proposed development are in keeping with its surroundings.’ whilst Provision (iii) states 
that the ‘character of the area in not adversely affected.’

Page 95



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

Policy BCS9 of the BCSNDP states that the development proposals will be supported, 
provided they complement, enhance and reinforce the local distinctiveness of the 
village and where appropriate are designed to enhance the setting of the conservation 
areas and their settings. Proposals must show clearly how the scale, mass, density, 
layout and design of the site, building or extension fits in with the character of the 
immediate area and wider context within the village. The scale of new developments 
should conserve and enhance the rural character and appearance of the village and 
its landscape setting as defined in the adopted Village Design Statement and 
Conservation Area Character Appraisal.

6.9 The changes to the external appearance are minor. The addition of the dormer window 
brings a sense of visual balance to the rear of the building in my view, but this will not 
be particularly visible from the public realm. 

The changes to the building are modest and had they been proposed originally, I would 
have concluded that they were acceptable and accord with Policy H4 of SOLP and 
BCS9 of the BcSNDP. 

6.10 Impact on highway safety. 

With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:

Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would 
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety.

Policy T1 of SOLP seeks to ensure that all types of development will, where 
appropriate, provide for safe and convenient access to the highway network. 

Policy T2 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway safety 
and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas.

Emerging Policy TRANS5 echoes these provisions. 

Appendix 5 of SOLP sets out the council’s maximum parking standards based on the 
number of bedrooms within a development.

6.11 The proposed internal changes allow for the creation of a new bedroom at first floor 
level. This will increase the number of bedrooms within the approved building. However 
there remains sufficient parking and manoeuvring on the site for the increased number 
of cars. As such, there will not be additional pressure for parking on the public highway 
in my view which in this location would be impractical. 

The development remains compliant with Policies T1 and T2 of SOLP. 

6.12 Conditions.

The NPPG advises that decision notices for the grant of planning permission under 
section 73 should also repeat the relevant conditions from the original planning 
permission, unless they have already been discharged. Planning conditions, with the 
exception of the condition that is being varied as part of a Section 73 application, are 
normally the same as those on the original planning permission. Additional conditions 

Page 96



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

can also be added where they relate to the changes of the scheme through the 
variation of the approved plans.

The first condition which requires that the development be commenced within three 
years is no longer necessary on the basis that development has commenced

A number of conditions which had a pre-commencement element to them and required 
details to be submitted to the council for approval are proposed to be altered to ensure 
that the details in these respects are carried out in accordance with the details that 
have been submitted and already approved. 

The remaining conditions are unchanged and are retained from the original permission. 

6.13 Other issues.

The parish council has concerns that the changes to the building will mean that it can 
be occupied as two sperate dwellings because of the inclusion of an additional 
staircase. They have requested that the council impose a condition to ensure that the 
dwelling is not sub-divided to create two dwellings. 

Under the approved layout the proposed master suite at first floor could only be 
accessed through Bedroom 1. I consider that such an arrangement would not be 
practical and therefore a second staircase is not an unreasonable solution to that 
problem.

6.14 Planning guidance suggests that the use of planning conditions should be kept to a 
minimum. This is set out in Paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). It states that they should only be imposed where they are;

- Necessary
- Relevant to planning
- Relevant to the development to be permitted
- Enforceable
- Precise
- Reasonable in all other respects

In my view a condition to ensure that the building cannot be subdivided would fail the 
test of necessity and reasonableness. It is not necessary because the sub-division of 
one dwelling in to two is a material change of use and would require planning 
permission in its own right. It is not necessary to restrict it because it cannot lawfully 
take place without planning permission in its own right.

The council cannot also pre-empt what may or may not happen in the future. It can only 
consider what is before us in the application. In the circumstances, the parish council’s 
request for a condition to prevent the sub-division of the dwelling is not justified in my 
view.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 I recommend that planning permission is granted because the changes to the approved 

plans do not result in a development that is unneighbourly or harmful to the character 
and appearance of the area. 

Sufficient parking and amenity space are provided and remain acceptable. 

Page 97



South Oxfordshire District Council –Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

In conjunction with the attached conditions the proposal accords with development plan 
policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That Planning Permission is granted subject to the following conditions; 

1 : Approved plans 
2 : Materials as approved
3 : Landscaping Scheme as approved
4 : Surface water drainage works as approved
5 : Foul drainage works as approved
6 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc
7 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas as approved
8 : No Garage conversion into accommodation
9 : Wildlife Protection (mitigation as approved)

Author:         Mr. P Bowers
E-mail :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk 
Contact No:  01235 422600

 

Page 98

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 99

Agenda Item 10P20/S2746/FUL



P
age 100

SAV_PALBOW
Typewriter
P20/S0149/FUL - Approved Plan

SAV_PALBOW_1
Typewriter
Appendix 2 -



P
age 101

SAV_PALBOW_2
Typewriter
Appendix 2 -

SAV_PALBOW_3
Typewriter
P20/S1964/NM - Approved Plan



P
age 102

SAV_PALBOW_4
Typewriter
Appendix 3 - Proposed Plan



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

1

APPLICATION NO. P19/S4156/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 14.11.2019
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Anne-Marie Simpson

Jane Murphy
APPLICANT Andrew Tyler
SITE Downlands Kennels, Westfield Road, Cholsey 

Oxfordshire, OX10 9JW
PROPOSAL New Kennel Block (as amplified by Noise Impact 

Assessment received on 17 February 2020)
OFFICER Will Darlison

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application has been referred to Planning Committee at the discretion of the 

Planning Manager because the recommendation conflicts with the views of the Parish 
Council. This report sets out the officer’s recommendation of approval and how that 
has been reached with regard to the relevant material planning considerations and the 
development plan. 

1.2 Downlands Kennels is a kennel and cattery business, located in a rural area outside 
the built-up limits of any settlement but within the parish of Cholsey. The application 
site includes a detached, non-listed, residential dwelling that provides some office 
space and staff toilet facilities for the business. Located to the rear of the dwelling is a 
kennel building with external runs.

1.3 The application site is located within the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB).

1.4 A plan identifying the site in greater context is attached at Appendix 1 to this report.

1.5 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a single storey kennel 
building to be sited facing towards the existing kennels with external runs sited in 
between the two structures, which will be modified to be used by both buildings. The 
new building would require the removal of an existing, disused, former stable and 
sheep pen buildings.

1.6 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the Council’s 
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Cholsey Parish Council – Objection

 The proposal is at odds with Policy H2 of the Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan.
 The Council consider that the proposals would create unacceptable noise levels 

for the neighbours.
 Further soundproofing and consideration of the orientation of the kennel block 

should be taken into account to have it much further away from the 
neighbouring house.

Page 103

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S4156/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

2

 The Noise Impact Assessment report is flawed as it was undertaken at the 
quietest time of the year.

 Concerns about the expansion of the kennels having a considerable extra level 
of pressure to the already constrained parking.

Forestry Officer - No strong views

Env. Protection Team – Initially no objection raised. Subsequently reviewed and a 
holding objection raised, and Noise Impact Assessment requested. 

Holding objection withdrawn on the basis of the Noise Impact Assessment and 
clarifying information submitted by the agent. No objection subject to a condition 
requiring all of the requirements for sound insulation for the new block and 
improvements to the outdoor runs are implemented

Neighbour representations - Neighbour Object x (2)

 The additional noise that the new kennel building and increase in dogs would 
lead to is going to worsen the noise situation and the impact it has on the lives 
of the occupants at the neighbouring property.

 The noise impact assessment has not fully assessed the noise impact of the 
proposals, including the need to take account of the impact outside as well as 
inside, of total numbers and in the worst periods of the year.

 The proposals would increase the number of cars coming down the shared 
drive. There are difficulties at present with it being blocked due to the limited 
facilities at the kennel site.

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P70/R4306 - Approved (06/08/1970)

Proposed use of two buildings as kennels for breeding and boarding of dogs and 
domestic pets

P70/R4209 - Approved (05/03/1970)
Proposed use of existing building for dog breeding and boarding

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 N/A

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) policies:
CSEM1 - Supporting a successful economy
CSEN1 - Landscape protection
CSQ3 - Design
CSR2 - Employment in rural areas

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) policies:
C9 - Loss of landscape features
D1 - Principles of good design
E9 - Extensions to existing institutions
E6 - Loss of employment uses
EP1 - Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2 - Adverse affect by noise or vibration

Page 104

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P70/R4306
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P70/R4209


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

3

G2 - Protect district from adverse development

5.4 Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan (CNP) policies:
CNP E1 – Landscape character
CNP 17 – Working from home
CNP 18 – Business and wider landscape setting

5.5 South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan 2034 Policies: 
The Council is currently progressing the emerging local plan through the examination 
stage. Following recent examination hearings, the Planning Inspector has now asked 
South Oxfordshire District Council to prepare a ‘Schedule of Proposed Main 
Modifications’ to the plan. The schedule reflects the modifications, or changes, that the 
Inspector considers necessary to make the plan sound before it can move to the 
adoption stage. These are the only significant changes that can be made to the plan 
now. Consultation runs until 2 November 2020. As such, the plan currently carries 
limited weight. Relevant policies include;

DES1E - Delivering high quality development
DES6E - Residential amenity
EMP2E - Range, size and mix of employment
EMP3E - Retention of employment land
ENV1E - Landscape and countryside
STRAT1E - The overall strategy
ENV11E - Pollution - Impact from existing and/or previous land uses on new 
development (potential receptors of pollution)
ENV12E - Pollution - Impact of development on human health, the natural environment 
and/or local amenity

5.6 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG)

5.7 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

5.8 Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Principle of development.
 Impact on residential amenity.
 Design, appearance and impact on the character of the site.
 Impact on the special landscape character of the North Wessex Downs 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.
 Impact on trees.
 Impact on parking.
 Other issues.

6.2 Principle of development. The proposed business operating on the site is a long-
established kennel and cattery. Policies CSEM1 and CSR2 of the SOCS, Policies E6 

Page 105



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

4

and E9 of the SOLP and CNP 17 and CNP 18 of the CNP aim to ensure the future 
viability of employment in a rural location by supporting proposals to improve existing 
facilities. 

6.3 The above policies provide a framework for collaborative working with businesses to 
create an environment that positively and proactively encourage sustainable economic 
growth. 

6.4 Cholsey Parish Council have stated in their comments that the development would be 
contrary to Policy CNP H2 of the CNP. However, I do not believe that to be the case. 
Whilst the site and proposals are outside of the settlement the nature of the 
development is not inappropriate in a countryside setting. The kennel use is an 
established lawful one taking place on the site and the rural setting is one that is 
compatible with the nature of the activities associated with the business.

6.5 Impact on residential amenity. Policy EP2 of the SOLP does not support proposals 
which would by reason of noise or vibrations have an adverse effect on existing or 
proposed occupiers, unless effective mitigation measures can be implemented.

6.6 The existing kennel business was granted permission under application reference 
P70/R4209 and there were no restrictive conditions to govern the hours of operation of 
the kennel activities or the levels of noise on the site. Therefore, the kennels are 
considered to be the lawful and there is currently no breach of any planning conditions. 

6.7 Located along the northern boundary of the application site is a detached residential 
dwelling known as Kingstanding House. The proposed development would increase the 
number of animals by an additional 20 from 70 to a total of 90. Following comments 
from the neighbour at Kingstanding House in respect of noise, a noise impact 
assessment in support of the increase in the number of dogs was requested. The noise 
concerns are an alleged impact and no official complaint has been made to the 
Environmental Protection Officer (EPO). A noise impact assessment allows an 
assessment of any additional noise associated with the animals and kennels upon the 
area and the neighbouring residential property.

6.8 The EPO has assessed the submitted Noise Impact Assessment. He has concluded 
that the new kennel building would have suitable acoustic insulation appropriate to its 
use. The matter of the outdoor noise in the exercise yard was also considered and it is 
important to note that the EPO has not made any objection to the methodology of the 
assessment nor the time of year that it was carried out.

6.9 The Noise Impact Assessment states that the additional dogs would be exercised along 
with the existing dogs in an organised rotation in and out of the kennels within the 
existing time frames. This combined with the addition of higher opaque sides to the 
runs would prevent the dogs from seeing each other which reduces the potential noise 
produced, particularly when the fencing currently in place is all open mesh. The EPO 
has confirmed that this is a lawful business without any restrictions stemming from 
planning conditions and as such applying time limits on the existing use would not be 
appropriate for this application.

6.10 The EPO has confirmed that both announced and unannounced site visits have been 
carried out and, in neither situation, did he witness noise from barking dogs in the 
outdoor area. He also confirms that he has seen the outdoor area being used during 
busy periods, concluding that this was a good representation of a normal day. He also 
confirmed that no official noise complaints regarding barking dogs have been made in 
the past. Therefore, on that basis the EPO has no information to support the claim that 

Page 106



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

5

the current number of dogs is excessively noisy. The correct route to address instances 
of excessive noise from barking dogs would be through the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 regarding statutory noise nuisance and by way of implementing noise control 
as required by the high standards of the premises licence. On this basis, the EPO has 
no grounds to object to the application but has recommended that all requirements for 
sound insulation for the new kennel block are completed in line with the acoustic 
assessment recommendations. 

6.11 It is my view that the proposed development would not warrant refusal on the grounds 
of noise because the proposal has been assessed by the EPO and he has found no 
verifiable evidence to support a noise nuisance. I am satisfied that the proposal 
complies with the relevant development plan policies subject to a condition to require 
that the sound insulation and associated run screens are implemented and retained on 
an ongoing basis. 

6.12 It is also important to reiterate some of EPO comments, specifically that the appropriate 
mechanism for addressing noise nuisance matters is through the relevant legislation 
and not through the planning system. Whilst the noise impact of the development is a 
material planning consideration this does not mean that the planning system should be 
duplicating efforts and encroaching onto matters that are covered within the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

6.13 Design, appearance and impact on the character of the site. Policy D1 of the SOLP 
sets out the principles of good design that should be taken into account for new 
development to reinforce and protect the local distinctiveness of the District. This is 
echoed in the Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan in the form of Policy CNP STRAT 1 which 
seeks to ensure that development conserves and enhances the rural setting of the 
village.

6.14 I am of the opinion that the proposed kennel building would be of a size, scale and 
siting appropriate to the site and the character of the area. It is a single-story building 
and would employ a rectangular footprint with a pitched roof over constructed steel 
insulated cladding over a larch boarded and steel cladded exterior. This would match 
the other kennel on site.  The size of the kennel building would be subordinate to the 
existing kennel and would demonstrate a clear degree of subservience to the host 
dwelling at the frontage of the site. This would ensure that there would be no disruption 
to the hierarchy of built form on the site and through the matching materials a degree of 
sympathy would be achieved. This would ensure that it would be in keeping with the 
site and assimilate readily into it.

6.15 Impact on the special landscape character of the North Wessex Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS states that high priority will 
be given to conservation and enhancement of the Chilterns and North Wessex Downs 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and that planning decisions will have regard to 
their setting and their special landscape character. The protection of the landscape is 
also an objective of Policy CNP E1 of the Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan.

6.16 The application site is an established lawful kennel business with dwelling. There is a 
developed character to the rear of the residential dwelling in the form of the existing 
kennel building with the associated runs and outbuildings. Lying between the kennel 
and runs and the north eastern site boundary is a more open area. The proposed 
kennel building would be located in this area but aligned so that it would be away from 
the shared boundary to allow for the building to make use of the existing run facilities. 
With this arrangement the impact on the wider landscape character of the AONB is 
considered to be low due to the views of the site from outside already having kennel 

Page 107



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

6

buildings and associated structures forming part of its appearance. The new building 
would be nestled in the interior space of the site and not have built form cascading out 
into the more open and visually prominent land to the north west end of the kennels 
where it would be more readily perceived as a new feature. This combined with its not 
excessive size and scale, particularly when compared to the significantly larger existing 
kennel building would, in my opinion result in an acceptable level of impact upon the 
landscape and would be compliant with the development plan policies.

6.17 Impact on trees. A contributing factor to the landscape character of the AONB will be 
made through trees and Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS as well as C9 of the SOLP will be 
relevant. Policy C9 does not support development that would cause the loss of 
landscape features where those features make an important contribution to the 
character of an area.

6.18 The proposed additional kennel building involves the loss of one tree. This has been 
identified to be a small Horse Chestnut tree, which was damaged during bad weather. 
The Forestry Officer has confirmed that they have no objection to the loss of the tree. I 
consider that, given the compromised condition of the tree and its location within the 
confines of the application site, it is not a perceived in the wider landscape character 
and that it should not be considered a constraint to development.

6.19 Impact on parking. Cholsey Parish Council have raised concerns that the proposed 
additional kennel building would create additional pressure upon constrained parking 
provision at the site. This is a commercial enterprise that does not experience a regular 
pattern of usage that would result in customers arriving at the same time. In practical 
terms, it is likely that the coming and goings of cars to the business would be spread 
out throughout the course of a working day. Furthermore, in my opinion, it is acceptable 
to expect the owners of the kennel to control pick up and drop offs to be scheduled at 
times throughout the course of a day so that parking is not a problem. 

6.20 Other issues. The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and will apply to 
relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in floorspace created as a result of the 
development. In this case CIL is not liable as the proposed development is not part of 
the adopted CIL charging schedule.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted as the proposed kennel 

building would be of a size, scale and design which would be in keeping with the 
established character of the site and not harmful to the special landscape character of 
the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The development would 
not result in an acceptable noise impact on the neighbouring dwelling and would 
positively contribute to the viability of the business on the site. In conjunction with the 
attached conditions the proposal accords with development plan policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans 
3 : Materials as on plan
4 : Noise Impact (Implementation as approved)

Author:        Will Darlison

Page 108



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 4 November 2020

7

Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Printed on 18/11/2019 10:17:48
   for BCP

This map is reproduced from Ordance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office Crown copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings
South Oxfordshire District Council / 100018668 / 2019

Reference:P19/S4156/FUL

Appendix 1

Page 111

Agenda Item 11P19/S4156/FUL



Appendix 2

P
age 112



P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 P19/S0821/FUL and P19/S0822/LB - Goulds Grove Old London Road Ewelme, OX10 6PX
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 Site location plan
	Appendix 2.1 Site Plan Proposed drwgno 3358.101 rev B
	Appendix 2.2 Coloured Site Plan drwgno 3358.109 rev A
	Appendix 2.3 Site Sections drwgno 3358.108 rev A
	Appendix 2.4 Elevation and Floor Plan Plot 1 Proposed drwgno3358-102
	Appendix 2.5 Elevation and Floor Plan Plot 2 Proposed drwgno 3358103
	Appendix 2.6 Plots 3 and 4 Floor and Roof Plans and Elevdrwgno 3358.104 Rev C
	Appendix 2.7 Plot 5 Floor and Roof Plans and Elevations drwgno 3358.105  Rev B
	Appendix 2.8 Floor Plan Office Proposed drwgno 3358-106
	Appendix 2.9 Elevation Plan Office Proposed drwgno 3358-107
	Appendix 2.10 Access Visibility Proposed drwgno 3358.114


	8 P19/S2923/O - Land to the east of Manor Road, to the south of Little Croft and to west of Elmcroft Manor Road Goring
	Appendices A-C
	1Appendix A Application Area
	2Appendix B Wider Area
	3Appendix C-Site allocation policy GNP PAGE 1
	3aAppendix C-Site allocation policy GNP PAGE 2


	9 P20/S0912/FUL - Land opposite Whitecross House, Reading Road, Wallingford, OX10 9ED
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 location plan
	Appendix 2 elevations
	Sheets and Views
	3043.312
	OLE1



	Appendix 2 floor plan FF
	Appendix 2 floor plan GF
	Appendix 2 floor plan Mezzanine


	10 P20/S2746/FUL - The Byre, Mackney Lane, Brightwell-Cum-Sotwell, OX10 0SQ
	Appendices 1-3
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2_1
	Appendix 2_2
	Floor Roof & Section Plans Proposed drwgno 290720a


	11 P19/S4156/FUL - Downlands Kennels, Westfield Road, Cholsey, OX10 9JW
	Appendices 1-2
	1a GIS Extract
	2 Composite Existing drwgno 01138 02
	2a Composite Proposed drwgno 01138 06





